UNIVERSITY OF RIJEKA FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Dora Gašparini

THE IMPACT OF TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS AND ITS THERAPY ON LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTION

Doctoral Thesis

Rijeka, 2024

UNIVERSITY OF RIJEKA FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Dora Gašparini

THE IMPACT OF TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS AND ITS THERAPY ON LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTION

Doctoral Thesis

Mentor: Assoc. Prof. Felix M. Wensveen, PhD Co-mentor: Assoc. Prof. Tamara Turk Wensveen, MD, PhD

Rijeka, 2024

SVEUČILIŠTE U RIJECI MEDICINSKI FAKULTET

Dora Gašparini

UTJECAJ ŠEĆERNE BOLESTI TIPA 2 I NJEZINOG LIJEČENJA NA FUNKCIJU LIMFOCITA

Doktorski rad

Mentor: izv. prof. dr. sc. Felix M. Wensveen Komentorica: izv. prof. dr. sc. Tamara Turk Wensveen

Rijeka, 2024.

Mentor rada: izv. prof. dr. sc. Felix M. Wensveen, dipl. biol.

Komentor rada: izv. prof. dr. sc. Tamara Turk Wensveen, dr. med.

Doktorska disertacija obranjena je dana _____ 2024. godine na Medicinskom fakultetu Sveučilišta u Rijeci, pred povjerenstvom u sastavu:

1. _____ (titula, ime i prezime)

2. _____(titula, ime i prezime)

3. _____ (titula, ime i prezime)

Rad ima _____ listova.

UDK: _____

PREDGOVOR

Rad je izrađen na Zavodu za histologiju i embriologiju Medicinskog fakulteta Sveučilišta u Rijeci pod mentorstvom izv. prof. dr. sc. Felixa Wensveena i u Centru za dijabetes, endokrinologiju i kardiometabolizam Specijalne bolnice Thalassotherapia Opatija pod komentorstvom izv. prof. dr. sc. Tamare Turk Wensveen, a u sklopu poslijediplomskog sveučilišnog znanstvenog (doktorskog) studija "Biomedicina" pri Medicinskom fakultetu Sveučilišta u Rijeci. Rad je izrađen u sklopu projekata Hrvatske zaklade za znanost izv. prof. dr. sc. Felixa Wensveena (IP-2016-06-8027, IP-CORONA-2020-04-2045) i Potpore Sveučilišta u Rijeci (19-41-1551) te projekta izv. prof. dr. sc. Tamare Turk Wensveen "Utjecaj šećerne bolesti tipa 2 i njezinog liječenja na funkciju limfocita" Hrvatske zaklade za znanost (IP-2020-02-7928).

ZAHVALE

Zahvaljujem mentoru Felixu Wensveenu i komentorici Tamari Turk Wensveen na ukazanom povjerenju, podršci i strpljenu kao i svoj pruženoj pomoći, motivaciji i dragocjenim savjetima tijekom provedbe istraživanja i izrade doktorskog rada.

Zahvaljujem profesoru Bojanu Poliću i profesoru Viktoru Peršiću na pruženoj podršci tijekom provedbe istraživanja i izrade doktorskog rada.

Veliko hvala kolegama i kolegicama Zavoda za histologiju i embriologiju Medicinskog fakulteta u Rijeci te Specijalne bolnice Thalassotherapia Opatija na svim savjetima i nesebičnoj pomoći te ugodnom i prijateljskom okruženju tijekom zajedničkog rada.

Hvala svim mojim prijateljima i prijateljicama na potpori i razumijevanju tijekom izrade ovog doktorskog rada.

Zahvaljujem Ninu na podršci, beskrajnom strpljenju i razumijevanju na svakom koraku koji je prethodio obrani doktorske disertacije.

I naposljetku, veliko hvala mojim roditeljima i braći na potpori i bezuvjetnoj ljubavi tijekom cijelog mog obrazovanja.

SUMMARY

Objectives: Systemic chronic low-grade inflammation plays a pivotal role in the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and its comorbidities including atherosclerosis, diabetic kidney disease, and liver steatosis. However, the impact of T2DM on the inflammatory state of the immune system is incompletely understood. The primary objective of this study is to explore whether T2DM is associated with a pro-inflammatory profile within the antiviral arm of the immune system and whether this can be reversed through antidiabetic treatment.

Materials and Methods: After signed informed consents were collected, we isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cells from both individuals with T2DM and control subjects. Additionally, a subgroup of patients who achieved target glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} below 7.0% underwent blood collection before and six months after the optimisation of their antidiabetic treatment. We conducted a comprehensive analysis of cytotoxic lymphocyte phenotype, proliferation and cytokine production using multiparametric flow cytometry.

Results: Our findings reveal a significant increase in the production of tumour necrosis factor- α by CD8⁺ T cells and Granzyme B by natural killer (NK) cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in patients with diabetes compared to the control group. These observations showed a positive correlation with both age and diabetes duration. In a subset of patients with poorly controlled diabetes, we optimised their antidiabetic treatment regimen, subsequently repeating the analysis three months after successfully lowering their blood glucose levels. Remarkably, optimal antidiabetic treatment demonstrated the capacity to reduce cytokine production by CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Conclusion: Cytotoxic immune cells undergo functional alterations in the context of diabetes, potentially contributing to the development and exacerbation of inflammation-driven diabetic complications. Lowering of blood glucose levels was associated with an amelioration of the hyper-inflammatory profile of these cells. Our findings underscore the potential for optimal antidiabetic treatment to revert these immune changes, offering promising avenues for managing diabetes-related inflammation.

Key words: CD8-Positive T-Lymphocytes; Cytokines; Diabetes Mellitus, Type 2; Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor; Inflammation; Sodium-Glucose Transporter 2 Inhibitors; Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha.

SAŽETAK

Cilj istraživanja: Sustavna kronična upala niskog stupnja igra ključnu ulogu u pojavi šećerne bolesti tipa 2 i povezanih komorbiditeta poput ateroskleroze, dijabetičke nefropatije i steatoze jetre. Međutim, utjecaj šećerne bolesti tipa 2 na upalno stanje imunološkog sustava nije u potpunosti razjašnjen. Glavni cilj ovog istraživanja je otkriti je li šećerna bolest tipa 2 povezana s proupalnim profilom unutar antivirusnog kraka imunološkog sustava i može li antihiperglikemijsko liječenje poništiti taj utjecaj.

Materijali i metode: Nakon prikupljanja potpisanih informiranih pristanaka, izolirali smo mononuklearne stanice periferne krvi osoba sa šećernom bolesti tipa 2 i kontrolnih ispitanika. Usto, podskupina bolesnika, koja je postigla ciljni glikirani hemoglobin A_{1c} niži od 7.0%, podvrgnuta je prikupljanju krvi prije početka i šest mjeseci nakon optimizacije njihovog antidijabetičkog liječenja. Proveli smo opsežnu analizu citotoksičnih limfocita, točnije njihovog fenotipa, proliferacije i proizvodnje, korištenjem multiparametrijske protočne citometrije.

Rezultati: U bolesnika sa šećernom bolesti tipa 2 zabilježili smo značajan porast u proizvodnji čimbenika tumorske nekroze α iz CD8⁺ limfocita T te granzima B iz prirodnih stanica ubojica (engl. *natural killer*, NK) i $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T u usporedbi s kontrolnom skupinom. Ova su opažanja u pozitivnoj korelaciji s dobi i trajanjem šećerne bolesti. U podskupini bolesnika s loše kontroliranom šećernom bolesti, optimizirali smo njihov antihiperglikemijski režim liječenja te ponovili analizu tri mjeseca nakon uspješnog snižavanja razine glukoze u krvi. Zanimljivo je da je optimalno antihiperglikemijsko liječenje pokazalo sposobnost smanjenja proizvodnje citokina iz CD8⁺ limfocita T, stanica NK i $\gamma\delta$ limfocita T.

Zaključak: Citotoksične imunološke stanice prolaze kroz funkcionalne promjene u kontekstu šećerne bolesti, potencijalno pridonoseći razvoju i pogoršanju dijabetičkih komplikacija izazvanih upalom. Naša otkrića naglašavaju potencijal optimalnog antihiperglikemijskog liječenja u poništavanju ovih imunoloških promjena, pritom nudeći inovativan način upravljanja upalom povezanom sa šećernom bolesti.

Ključne riječi: CD8-pozitivni limfociti T; Citokini; Čimbenik tumorske nekroze-alfa; Inhibitori prijenosnika natrija i glukoze 2; Receptor glukagonu sličnog peptida 1; Šećerna bolest, tip 2; Upala.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1. The burden of type 2 diabetes mellitus: challenges and solutions	. 1
1.2. Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for infection	4
1.3. Proposed mechanisms of diabetes-induced immune dysregulation	4
1.4. Inflammation as the key driver of diabetic complications	. 8
RESEARCH GOALS	12
S. SUBJECTS AND METHODS	13
3.1. Subjects	13
3.2. Materials	16
3.3. Methods	18
. RESULTS	23
4.1. Baseline characteristics of study participants	23
4.2. Type 2 diabetes does not impact the distribution of the leukocyte compartment	25
4.3. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by CD8 T cells is increased in diabetes	27
4.5. Type 2 diabetes is associated with hyperresponsive gamma delta T cells	32
4.6. Natural killer cells of diabetes patients produce more Granzyme B than control subjects	35
4.7. Inflammatory profile of cytotoxic lymphocytes correlates with age and diabetes duration	38
4.8. Optimal antidiabetic treatment reverts hyperinflammation in type 2 diabetes patients	43
4.9. Optimal antidiabetic treatment reverts hyperinflammation independent of glucose-lowering a	
weight-management effects	
DISCUSSION	55
CONCLUSIONS	59
. REFERENCES	60
IST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	67
JST OF ABBREVIATIONS	69
CURRICULUM VITAE	72

1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. The burden of type 2 diabetes mellitus: challenges and solutions

Diabetes mellitus, a chronic metabolic disease marked by a reduced ability to control blood glucose homeostasis, has been referred to as the pandemic of the 21st century. It affects approximately 537 million adults worldwide, equivalent to 10.5% of the global adult population [1]. The prevalence of diabetes is projected to escalate to 643 million by 2030 and 784 million by 2045 [1]. Consequently, more than 6.5 million people are estimated to die every year from diabetes or hyperglycaemia-induced comorbidities [1]. Diabetes is associated with a large number of micro- and macrovascular complications, including chronic kidney disease, ischemic heart disease and diabetic retinopathy. Nevertheless, many aspects of diabetes and its comorbidities are still poorly understood.

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) stands as the most prevalent form of diabetes, largely attributed to the widespread occurrence of obesity and other related risk factors [2]. To advance the development of more precise and effective treatments, a deeper comprehension of the pathophysiology of T2DM and its complications is imperative. Initially, a triad of three key factors for diabetes development were identified, which later expanded to an ominous octet of eight factors [3, 4]. Now, we understand that impaired ability to control glycemia is a result of interconnected pathology in eleven different organ systems [5] but the main underlying mechanism of T2DM-induced hyperglycaemia stems from diminished glucose uptake due to insulin resistance within the liver, muscles and visceral adipose tissue.

As per the most recent guidelines established by the American Diabetes Association (ADA)[6], the diagnosis of T2DM is determined when a patient exhibits a fasting plasma glucose concentration (FPG) of \geq 7.0 mmol/l, a glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA_{1c}) \geq 6.5%, or a blood glucose value (2HG) of \geq 11.1 mmol/l two hours after the initiation of oral glucose tolerance test. Unlike FPG and 2HG values, HbA_{1c} percentage is less subject to daily changes as it represents a weighted average of blood glucose levels over approximately three months, corresponding to the lifespan of a red blood cell. This stability makes HbA_{1c} a routine marker for disease control and treatment efficacy monitoring. The primary objective of antidiabetic treatment is to lower blood glucose levels below 'target' thresholds [7], which, in clinical practice, is typically defined as an HbA_{1c} of 7%. Nevertheless, these treatment goals are frequently individualised and tailored to the patient's physical condition and risk profile [7].

The management of newly diagnosed T2DM typically commences with lifestyle modifications and the initiation of metformin as the first-line medication [7]. If metformin alone fails to achieve the target HbA_{1c} levels, add-on therapy should be administered. Currently, a diverse array of therapeutic options for T2DM treatment are available, and the selection for each patient hinges on a multitude of factors, including

age, disease duration, and the presence of comorbidities (Figure 1). Moreover, non-clinical considerations such as financial or administrative factors can also be of key importance. For instance, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors (SGLT-2i) are the preferred choice for patients with heart failure (HF) and chronic kidney disease. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists (GLP-1RA) are better suited for those with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) and obesity, defined as body mass index (BMI) above 30 kg/m²[7]. The first-line antidiabetic treatment regimens, incorporating SGLT-2i and/or GLP-1RA alongside metformin, have been extensively studied for their beneficial effects on cardiovascular and renal outcomes in large-scale randomised clinical trials. SGLT-2 inhibitors, such as empagliflozin and dapagliflozin, act through a decrease in glucose reabsorption in the proximal tubules causing an increase in urinary glucose excretion and subsequent caloric loss. Additionally, the associated osmotic diuresis, resulting from increased glucose excretion, contributes to a reduction in blood pressure. On the other hand, GLP-1RA, such as semaglutide, liraglutide and dulaglutide, stimulate insulin secretion, suppress glucagon release, slow gastric emptying, and promote a sense of satiety, collectively contributing to improved glycaemic control, reduced postprandial glucose levels, and potential benefits in body weight management. Despite significant differences in their mechanisms of action, both medication classes demonstrate a comparable potential for cardiorenal protection. So far, randomised clinical trials have shown a significant reduction in major adverse cardiovascular events (defined as a composite of non-fatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke and cardiovascular death), as well as a decrease in cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in patients treated with these medications [8-13]. Interestingly, SGLT-2i provide protection for individuals with heart failure and chronic kidney disease, both in the presence and absence of diabetes [14-17]. In a systematic review and meta-analysis, GLP-1RA have been shown to reduce hospital admission for heart failure and the composite kidney outcome [18]. Nevertheless, as dedicated trials assessing kidney or heart failure outcomes with GLP-1RA have not yet been completed, this class of medications, unlike SGLT-2i, currently lacks additional indications for heart failure and chronic kidney disease. Although conclusive evidence supporting additional benefits from the combination of SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA is lacking, current guidelines and recommendations advocate the addition of an SGLT-2i after a GLP-1RA or vice versa [7]. This approach is encouraged for patients with or at high risk of ASCVD and those with chronic kidney disease (Figure 1) considering that the combination therapy is highly likely to provide further outcome reduction.

The focus of current antidiabetic treatment, therefore, extends beyond glucose control to encompass additional health benefits like weight management or reducing cardiovascular risk (**Figure 1**). The United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study [19], a large-scale randomised trial focused on individuals with T2DM and the assessment of antidiabetic therapies, has unearthed a profound revelation: a mere 1% reduction in HbA_{1c} levels is intricately linked to a notable decrease in the risk of various critical health outcomes. These encompass a 37% reduction in microvascular disease, a 12% lower risk of stroke, a 16% decrease in HF

incidence, and a 14% lower risk of myocardial infarction. Furthermore, this 1% decrease in HbA_{1c} translates into a 14% reduction in all-cause mortality among T2DM patients, accompanied by a remarkable 21% decrease in diabetes-related mortality. Nonetheless, it is imperative to acknowledge that despite these significant findings from large-scale randomised clinical trials, information regarding the impact of glucose-lowering therapies on certain overlooked complications, particularly those related to immunological defects among diabetes patients, remain insufficient to this day.



Figure adapted from: 9. Pharmacologic Approaches to Glycemic Treatment: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2024. Diabetes care. 2024;47:S158-78.[7]

Figure 1. Type 2 diabetes mellitus treatment algorithm

ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; DPP-4i, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors; GLP-1RA, glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists; HF, heart failure; SGLT-2i, sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors; SU, sulfonylureas; TZD, thiazolidinediones.

1.2. Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for infection

An often underestimated aspect of diabetes is its detrimental impact on the immune system. Several uncommon infectious diseases, such as emphysematous pyelonephritis, malignant otitis externa, mucormycosis, and Fournier's gangrene, are notably prevalent among individuals with T2DM [20]. Equally significant, numerous studies have highlighted the increased susceptibility of diabetes patients to infections. A landmark prospective study conducted across primary care facilities, involving 6,712 patients with T2DM and 18,911 control subjects over one year, explored their susceptibility to infection [21]. The results revealed that individuals with T2DM had an elevated risk of contracting lower respiratory tract infections, urinary tract infections, bacterial skin and mucosal infections, as well as fungal infections. In 2011, a comprehensive meta-study comprising of 97 prospective cohort studies further demonstrated that T2DM is associated with a significant increase in infection-related mortality, even when excluding for pneumonia [22]. Importantly, T2DM not only increases susceptibility to infections but also influences the progression, duration and complication risks of infections. A comparative study of bloodstream infections in 71 diabetes patients and 252 non-diabetic counterparts found that the former group experienced prolonged stays in intensive care, longer mechanical ventilation, and a greater rate of renal or hepatic failure [23]. Moreover, a systematic review of 13 observational studies established that individuals with T2DM face an elevated risk of developing tuberculosis (TB) compared to healthy controls [24]. Given the increased susceptibility of T2DM patients to infections, the ADA guidelines recommend vaccination against influenza, S. pneumoniae and hepatitis B virus in addition to routine vaccines [25]. These findings from epidemiological studies provide compelling evidence of the increased susceptibility to infections in patients with T2DM.

This became strikingly evident during the emergence of the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. Some of the underlying pathological mechanisms of diabetes intersect with those of COVID-19, leading to an amplified susceptibility and increased severity of COVID-19 among patients with diabetes [26-28]. Notably, diabetes was identified in a third of patients with a composite outcome measure encompassing intensive care unit admission, the need for mechanical ventilation, and death [26]. Among individuals afflicted by both COVID-19 and diabetes, the risks of severe pneumonia, an uncontrolled inflammatory response, and a hypercoagulable state associated with dysregulation of glucose metabolism are notably increased [29].

1.3. Proposed mechanisms of diabetes-induced immune dysregulation

Multiple factors contribute to the dysregulated immune response to pathogens in individuals with T2DM (**Figure 2**), but hyperglycaemia stands out as a pivotal mediator in this scenario. Research has

consistently shown that the level of HbA_{1c} is positively correlated with both the duration and severity of infections caused by various pathogens. In a large retrospective case-control study including more than 34,000 patients with pneumonia and more than 342,000 controls over an eight-year period, patients with T2DM exhibited a significantly higher risk of pneumonia (relative risk, RR 1.23; 95% Confidence interval, CI 1.19–1.28) [30]. Notably, the risk was significantly higher for T2DM patients with an HbA_{1c} level exceeding 9.0% (RR 1.60, 95% CI 1.44–1.76) compared to those maintaining HbA_{1c} levels below 7.0% (RR 1.22, 95% CI 1.14–1.30) [30]. A similar study involving 4,748 patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and 12,954 controls across a 14-year follow-up period unveiled a significantly higher incidence of infections in individuals with T1DM compared to the control group, with infection rates positively correlated with HbA_{1c} percentage [31]. Although various other studies echo these findings, some are limited by inadequate statistical power or insufficient documentation of key metabolic parameters [20]. Nevertheless, a consistent pattern emerges, suggesting a direct relationship between glycaemic levels and the susceptibility of diabetes patients to infections.



Figure from: Turk Wensveen T, Gašparini D, Rahelić D, Wensveen FM. Type 2 diabetes and viral infection; cause and effect of disease. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2021;172:108637. [74]

Figure 2. Negative impacts of type 2 diabetes mellitus on immunological control of viral infection IFN, interferon; T_H, T helper.

The precise manner in which diabetes increases the susceptibility to infection remains elusive, but it has been associated with an impaired immune response. Numerous potential mechanisms of immune dysregulation in the context of T2DM have been proposed, albeit primarily based on studies involving murine models. In experiments involving diabetic mice induced through the destruction of pancreatic β cells using streptozotocin (STZ), it was observed that these animals exhibited reduced capacity to activate macrophages upon TB infection leading to delayed recruitment of neutrophils and dendritic cells, alongside reduced levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines [32, 33]. Furthermore, research revealed that STZ-induced diabetes impaired T cell-mediated immune responses to skin allografts, although the precise molecular mechanism remained unclear [34].

Human studies in this regard are both scarce and offer less definitive conclusions. Notably, acute changes in blood glucose levels have demonstrated an influence on the numbers of circulating CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [35]. One study noted that individuals with T2DM exhibited reduced cytotoxic potential in CD8⁺ T cells and natural killer (NK) cells upon TB infection, as they produced lower levels of Granzyme B and Perforin and displayed decreased degranulation potential [36]. Conversely, a separate study found that the cytotoxicity of cells from T2DM patients remained intact, but the production of cytokines by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells was diminished [37]. The exact impact of hyperglycaemia on immune cells remains elusive as certain studies even reported increased cytokine production by CD4⁺ T cells of T2DM patients with TB infection after in vitro stimulation [38, 39]. Furthermore, T2DM affects the responsiveness of innate immune cells. Granulocytes isolated from T2DM patients were observed to undergo apoptosis mediated by neutrophil extracellular traps, thereby impairing the process of wound healing [40, 41]. Additionally, the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-2 and IL-6, was found to be impaired in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) stimulated under hyperglycaemic conditions [42]. Moreover, hyperglycaemia was demonstrated to directly facilitate the replication of several pathogens [43, 44], further affecting the ability of the immune system to combat infections under such conditions. In summary, the dysregulation of the immune cells leads to inadequate responses to infections, resulting in an overall impairment of the immune response. Diabetes-induced immune dysregulation can be attributed to four pivotal factors: metabolite disbalance, hormonal disruption, hyperinflammation, and tissue damage.

1.3.1. Metabolite disbalance

While we have significant knowledge about which immunological processes are impacted by hyperglycaemia, the precise molecular mechanisms underlying these effects remain less clear. In immune cells, there is a close connection between metabolism and function. In their resting state, immune cells primarily rely on oxidative phosphorylation for their energy requirements. However, upon activation, particularly CD8⁺ T cells and pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages shift their metabolism towards glycolysis to generate adenosine triphosphate and channel metabolites into the pentose-phosphate pathway [45]. When the metabolic control of immune cells is disrupted, it profoundly affects their functionality. For instance,

CD8⁺ T cells that fail to increase glycolytic metabolism struggle to mount an effective effector response [46, 47], while memory cell formation is significantly reduced when these cells cannot activate oxygendependent metabolism [48]. One way through which hyperglycaemia impairs normal immune cell function is by disturbing immuno-metabolism [49].

Beyond glucose, T2DM also disrupts the balance of numerous other carbon-based metabolites involved in the defence against infections. During illness, our immune system orchestrates a controlled reduction in appetite and nutrient intake, shifting our metabolism into a fasting state [50]. This transition involves an increased utilisation of fatty acids and ketone bodies for sustenance. However, many pathogens prefer glucose metabolism to meet their metabolic demands. For example, cytomegalovirus actively induces glycolytic metabolism in host cells to facilitate its replication, a process hindered when glucose uptake is prevented [51, 52]. The replication of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is enhanced in the presence of high glucose levels [53]. Nonetheless, due to the persistent hyperglycaemia characteristic of T2DM even under fasting, this strategy of depriving pathogens of glucose becomes ineffective. Furthermore, fasting metabolism has recently been discovered to prime non-immune cells to activate their innate cellular defences against infections. All nucleated cells can produce type I interferons (IFNs) upon infection, a potent alarm signal that attracts immune cells to the infection site. Defects in type I IFN production in humans are typically associated with lethal infections in early life [54]. SARS-CoV-2 leads to severe pathology in a significant number of patients because it delays the production of type I IFNs [55]. In response to feeding, most glucose is taken up by muscles and rapidly converted into lactate [56]. Consequently, fasting results in a reduction in systemic lactate levels. Recent research has shown that lactate inhibits type I IFN production in response to infection by inhibiting retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 proteins that detect viral infections. Notably, patients with T2DM exhibit elevated blood lactate levels [57, 58]. As a result, the innate ability of cells to recruit immune cells following viral infection is diminished.

1.3.2. Hormonal dysfunction

In addition to blood nutrient levels, hormonal disbalance contributes to immune dysregulation in patients with diabetes. Individuals with T2DM often exhibit elevated blood insulin and leptin levels, particularly shortly after diagnosis [59, 60]. While these hormones can stimulate the immune system, the effectiveness of the immune response relies on its ability to adapt to specific pathogens. Different pathogens trigger distinct transcriptional profiles in key innate immune cells like dendritic cells, which play a crucial role in activating T cells. For example, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection leads to high levels of type I and type III IFNs, whereas SARS-CoV-2 infection results in increased IL-6 expression [61]. In diabetes, dendritic cell differentiation becomes skewed, causing reduced expression of costimulatory

molecules CD80 and CD86 [62], whilst promoting the development of plasmacytoid dendritic cells that produce type I IFNs [63]. Several studies suggest that hormonal irregularities can disrupt the balance between T-helper 1 (T_{H1}) and T-helper 2 (T_{H2}) activity, impairing the immune response against viruses such as RSV and cytomegalovirus [64, 65]. Therefore, the immuno-stimulatory effects of insulin and leptin in T2DM may not be beneficial, as they lead to skewed immune responses and reduced efficiency.

1.3.3. Chronic low-grade inflammation

In individuals with T2DM, changes in the cytokine environment from altered interactions between organs responsible for maintaining metabolic balance and their tissue-resident immune cells. Patients with T2DM typically exhibit elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in their bloodstream [66], indicating chronic low-grade inflammation, primarily originating in visceral adipose tissue due to excess fat accumulation [67]. In obesity, adipocytes experience cellular stress, detected by innate immune cells like NK cells, which respond by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines, most notably IFN- γ [68]. This triggers a shift in macrophages from an anti-inflammatory M2 to a pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype [69]. Activated adipose tissue macrophages further fuel local inflammation and immune cell recruitment, resulting in a continuous release of cytokines into the bloodstream. T2DM exacerbates cytokine-induced damage during infections such as Influenza and COVID-19 [70, 71]. Additionally, the pro-inflammatory environment in patients with T2DM is associated with abnormal clot formation and hypercoagulation, contributing to the elevated mortality risk in COVID-19 [72, 73].

1.3.4. Tissue damage

Pathological microvascular changes are a defining feature of diabetes, disrupting organ function in those reliant on microcirculation, such as the kidneys, retina, and peripheral nervous system. These microvascular alterations, including delayed vascularisation, reduced blood flow, diminished innate immunity, decreased growth factor production, and psychological stress factors, impair the local immune response. This defect often becomes apparent in the skin of the extremities of individuals with T2DM, where it leads to chronic infections, ulcers, and delayed wound healing [74]. However, microvascular damage negatively impacts a normal immune response in basically all tissues.

1.4. Inflammation as the key driver of diabetic complications

Prolonged and excessive metabolic stress in patients with diabetes can trigger harmful inflammatory responses, potentially giving rise to autoinflammatory diseases. While the precise manifestations may vary

between organs, a common underlying pattern emerges in tissues affected by metabolic stress. Elevated nutrient exposure induces adipocyte hypertrophy; however, beyond a certain saturation point, these adipocytes lose their ability to store additional lipids, leading to the expression of stress signals in patients with obesity. This, in turn, initiates the release of cytokines and chemokines, subsequently leading to the recruitment and proliferation of immune cells [75]. In contrast, microvascular alterations occurring in the retina and peripheral neurons of patients with diabetes lead to hypoxia, which has been proposed as a trigger of the immune response [75]. The inflammasome, particularly the nucleotide-binding domain leucine-richcontaining family pyrin domain-containing-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome, plays a central role in detecting these alterations and responds to increased levels of glucose, fatty acids, cholesterol, uric acid, and hypoxia [76]. Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome requires two steps: priming and activation. The priming step (signal 1) implies induction of the nuclear factor kappa b (NF- κ B)-mediated NLRP3 and pro-IL-1 β expression, and the activation step (signal 2) consists of promoting NLRP3 inflammasome assembly and caspase-1-mediated IL-1 β and IL-18 secretion [77]. Depending on the tissue involved, the inflammatory cascade induced by metabolic stress results in different pathological conditions. Notably, age has recently been acknowledged as a significant contributing factor that amplifies the inflammatory cascade in patients with chronic conditions.

Age-induced inflammation, also referred to as inflammageing, contributes to tissue dysfunction, diminishes cellular repair processes, and facilitates the development of age-related diseases such as cardiovascular disease, chronic kidney disease and cancer [78]. Fransceschi et al. [79] initially conceptualised inflammageing as a component of the two-hit theory in the development of age-related diseases. A persistent inflammatory background, driven by continuous antigenic load and stress, was proposed as the first hit, requiring a second hit (genetic factors) for the manifestation of specific inflammatory-driven conditions [79]. Notably, metabolic dysregulation appears to fuel inflammageing, as evidenced by the association between higher levels of inflammatory markers in patients with type 2 diabetes and an increased vascular- and all-cause age-adjusted mortality risk [80]. Importantly, targeted interventions aiming to mitigate these inflammatory pathways may improve cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes [81, 82]. Increased inflammageing is observable among several diabetes-related inflammatory disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease and polycystic ovary syndrome. However, a precise characterisation of the impact of type 2 diabetes on inflammageing-associated factors is currently lacking.

1.4.1. Inflammation and macrovascular complications of diabetes

Nearly two centuries ago, atherosclerosis was recognised as an inflammatory process, an insight later substantiated by contemporary research [83]. Recent studies have revealed that atherosclerosis shares

a common thread of metabolic stress-induced inflammation with T2DM. Myeloid cells, with the IL-1 system serving as a pivotal sensor for metabolic shifts, are at the core of inflammation in ASCVD [75]. In the early stages of atherosclerosis, monocytes adhere to the endothelial surface and infiltrate arterial walls, where they can transform into foam cells accumulating around endothelial lesions [84]. This process is initiated by the NLRP3 inflammasome, which activates in response to crystalline cholesterol and saturated fatty acids. Substituting saturated fats with monounsaturated fats reduces IL-1 β priming and secretion, as well as the subsequent modulation of monocyte chemotaxis and adhesion [85]. The study of IL-1 β inhibitor Canakinumab (Canakinumab Anti-Inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes or CANTOS study) has further underscored the significance of IL-1 β in ASCVD [86, 87]. Other cytokines, such as IL-1 α and IL-6 [75], also contribute to atherosclerosis progression, and ongoing clinical trials will shed further light on this complex interplay. Diabetes seems to further aggravate the systemic inflammatory response in these patients, thus leading to increased pathology and worse clinical outcomes.

1.4.2. Inflammation and microvascular complications of diabetes

Inflammation is a well-established player in a wide range of diabetic complications, contributing significantly to the development of conditions such as diabetic retinopathy and macular oedema. Chronic retinal inflammation persists throughout the disease's progression, fuelled by key cytokines like IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), as well as the adhesion of monocytes and their chemotaxis [88-91]. Hypoxia and hyperglycaemia further exacerbate these processes, resulting in damage to retinal blood vessels, disrupting the blood-retinal barrier and culminating in macular oedema and retinal neovascularization. Notably, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) serves as a critical mediator in the development of diabetic retinopathy, induced by factors such as hypoxia, IL-1 β , IL-6, insulin and IGF-1 [92, 93]. The involvement of cytokines helps explain the elevated expression of VEGF in diabetic macular oedema, even in the absence of overt hypoxia [93].

In diabetic nephropathy, we observe changes in innate immunity, where TLR4 is notably overexpressed in the kidneys of patients with T2DM. This overexpression correlates positively with HbA_{1c} levels but negatively with renal function [94]. Additionally, the NLRP3 inflammasome activation of IL-1 β plays a significant role in sensing metabolic stress in the diabetic kidney [95-98].

Diabetic polyneuropathy is a condition with significant clinical implications, including diabetic foot ulcers and the risk of amputation. Paradoxically, research on its underlying causes has remained limited, with traditional classifications considering diabetic neuropathy as non-inflammatory, in contrast to conditions like Guillain-Barré syndrome or demyelinating neuropathy [99]. However, recent studies have

unearthed compelling connections between inflammation and diabetic neuropathy [99, 100], although detailed mechanistic insights in this area are still lacking.

Diabetes triggers the immune system in various ways, thus contributing to pathology of many of its comorbidities. However, to date most attention has been given to NLRP3-mediated inflammation, focused around the cytokine IL-1 β [66, 85]. However, animal studies suggest that the antiviral immune system also plays a key role in the pathophysiology of diseases associated with T2DM [32-34, 101-103]. However, how T2DM impacts these cells in humans is mostly unknown.

In the light of recent studies proving the remarkable efficacy of SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA in diverse diabetic complications, it is unclear whether antidiabetic therapy also has a beneficial impact on the inflammatory profile of immune cells in patients.

2. RESEARCH GOALS

The ultimate goal of this project is to elucidate whether antidiabetic therapy improves CD8⁺ T cell, $\gamma\delta$ T cell and NK cell dysregulation in the context of T2DM. This study will provide valuable new insights in lymphocyte dysregulation, an underappreciated aspect of T2DM. More importantly, it will allow clinicians to include the immunological risk profile of patients as an additional parameter when considering their best treatment options.

Based on scarce epidemiological data from the literature and our previous research in animal models of obesity and diabetes, we hypothesize that glycemia has an effect on lymphocyte function in the context of diabetes. We will investigate whether we can confirm this data by comparing flow cytometry parameters of lymphocyte phenotype and function of patients with T2DM and non-diabetic control subjects. Using this information, we will identify key surface markers and cytokines that define lymphocyte dysregulation in patients with T2DM. Finally, we will test whether reduction of glycemia also restores normal lymphocyte function in patients with T2DM. Our overall research question can therefore be formulated as follows:

How does glycemia in patients with T2DM impact lymphocyte function and is this effect reversible?

In order to answer the main research question, three specific research goals were set:

- 1. To determine a baseline for lymphocyte function using cells of healthy volunteers.
- 2. To determine the nature of lymphocyte dysregulation in patients with T2DM.
- 3. To determine whether reduction of glycemia restores normal lymphocyte function in patients with T2DM.

3. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

3.1. Subjects

3.1.1. Subject recruitment and eligibility criteria

Patients with T2DM were recruited from the Centre of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Cardiometabolism, the diabetes outpatient clinic at the Special Hospital Thalassotherapia Opatija, Croatia, between November 2020 and October 2023. The diagnosis of T2DM was made according to the latest ADA guidelines [6]. Based on medical history, clinical examination and initial laboratory evaluation, exclusion criteria were defined to omit patients with the presence of the following immune-modulating factors (Table 1, Figure 3): diagnosis of T1DM or latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (based on decreased C-peptide levels or positive autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase or islet antigen 2), acute infection or recent vaccination (up to 4 weeks prior), recurrent urinary tract infection, chronic inflammatory disease, active malignant disease, disorders with an impact on the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, antiinflammatory or immunosuppressive medication use, advanced liver or kidney disease. Patients taking insulin or more than two oral antidiabetic drugs were not included in the study. Participants who fulfilled all exclusion criteria but did not meet the criteria for diabetes diagnosis [6] were included in the control group (n=30) (Figure 3). All participants were over 18 years of age and signed informed consent before inclusion. In a subcohort of the Diabetes group, patients eligible for antidiabetic treatment modification including SGLT-2i and/or GLP-1RA as add-on therapy to metformin were followed-up for another 6-9 months. If they reached the target HbA_{1c} value of <7.0% after 3 months of modified antidiabetic treatment, blood collection was repeated at the 6-month time point. If the glycaemic target was not reached after 3 months, the treatment regimen or dosing were adjusted and the follow-up period was prolonged to 9 months according to the study diagram (Figure 4). If the glycaemic target was not reached 6 months after the antidiabetic treatment modification, if premature treatment discontinuation due to adverse effects occurred or if the patient was lost to follow-up, then the blood collection for flow cytometry analysis was not repeated at the 6-month time point.

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria		
1. Male and female gender	1. Patients with chronic inflammatory diseases (e.g. RA, IBD, COPD)		
2. Age 18-79 years	2. Patients with latent autoimmune diabetes in adults		
3. Clinical diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus according to	3. Patients taking anti-inflammatory or immunosuppressive drugs (e.g. corticosteroids)		
American Diabetes Association guidelines [6]	4. Patients with advanced liver disease (clinically evident signs of liver cirrhosis or LSM >12 kPa)		
4. HbA _{1c} \geq 7.0% on current therapy	5. Patients with chronic kidney disease of stages G3b and worse, defined as estimated glomerular filtration rate <45 ml/min per 1.73m ²		
	6. Patients with acute infection/vaccinated in the past month		
	7. Patients with C reactive protein >10 mg/l		
	8. Patients with recurrent urinary tract infection		
	9. Patients with active malignant disease		
	10. Patients with diseases that impact the HPA-axis (e.g. Addison's disease, Cushing syndrome, etc.)		
	11. Patients taking insulin or more than two oral antidiabetic drugs		

COPD, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; HbA_{1c}, Haemoglobin A_{1c}; HPA, Hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal axis; IBD, Inflammatory bowel disease; LSM, Liver stiffness measure; RA, Rheumatoid arthritis.



Figure 3. Flowchart of the study participants

Two groups of participants were enrolled in the study after initial evaluation: (a) a group of participants with type 2 diabetes mellitus poorly controlled on current treatment (Diabetes group), and (b) a group of nondiabetic participants (Control group).



Figure 4. Design of the follow-up part of the study

GLP-1RA, glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists; HbA_{1c}, haemoglobin A_{1c}; mo, month; NA, not applicable; SGLT-2i, sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.

3.1.2. Ethical considerations

The ethics committee of the Institutional Review Board at Thalassotherapia Opatija approved this research under number 01-000-00-503/2-2020. We conducted the research in accordance and agreement with the International Conference on Harmonization Good Clinical Practice Guidelines and with the Declaration of Helsinki.

3.2. Materials

3.2.1. Buffers and cell culture mediums

Roswell park memorial institute medium (RPMI) 1640

RPMI medium (PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), 3-10% Foetal calf serum (FCS; PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), 10 mM N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethanesulfonic acid (pH 7.2; PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), 2 mM L-glutamine (PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), 10⁵ U/l Penicillin (PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), 0.1 g/l Streptomycin (PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany), β-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States).

Cell culture freezing medium

70% RPMI medium (Pan Biotech), 20% FCS (Pan Biotech), 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States).

Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) medium

Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), 1% Bovine serum albumin (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, United States), 0.1% sodium azide (NaN₃) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States), 1 mM Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States).

3.2.2. Antibodies, chemicals and recombinant proteins

Antibodies were purchased from suppliers as indicated in Table 2.

Table 2. List of antibodies	used in	experiments
-----------------------------	---------	-------------

Antibody (clone)	Source	Identifier
Anti-human CD3 monoclonal antibody Alexa Fluor TM 700 (OKT3)		56-0037-42
Anti-human CD8a monoclonal antibody APC-eFluor [™] 780 (OKT8)		47-0086-42
Fixable Viability Dye eFluor TM 506		65-0866-14
Anti-human CD45RA monoclonal antibody SB645 (HI100)		64-0458-42
Anti-human CD45RO monoclonal antibody PE-eFluor [™] 610 (UCHL1)		61-0457-42
Anti-human CD27 monoclonal antibody FITC (LG.7F9)		11-0271-82
Anti-human CD57 monoclonal antibody PE-Cyanine7 (TB01)		25-0577-42
Anti-human CD28 monoclonal antibody PE (CD28.2)		12-0289-42
Anti-human IFN-γ monoclonal antibody FITC (4S.B3)		11-7319-82
Anti-human TNF-α monoclonal antibody PE-Cyanine7 (MAb11)		25-7349-82
Anti-human IL-2 monoclonal antibody APC (MQ1-17H12)	D. C. I. C	17-7029-82
Anti-human Granzyme B monoclonal antibody PE	eBioScience, Inc., San Diego, California, United	12-8896-42
(N4TL33) Anti-human Granzyme B monoclonal antibody eFluor [™] 450 (N4TL33)	States	48-8896-42
450 (N4TL33) Anti-human CD16 monoclonal antibody APC-eFluor [™] 780 (CB16)		47-0168-42
Anti-human CD56 monoclonal antibody PE (NCAM)		12-0567-42
Anti-human CD337 monoclonal antibody eFluor [™] 450 (AF29-4D12)		48-3379-42
Anti-human CD314 monoclonal antibody PerCP-eFluor [™] 710 (1D11)		46-5878-42
Anti-human Perforin monoclonal antibody APC (dG9)		17-9994-42
Anti-human CD69 monoclonal antibody SB780 (FN50)		78-0699-42
Anti-human TCR α/β monoclonal antibody PE-eFluor TM 610 (IP26)		61-9986-42
Anti-human CX3CR1 monoclonal antibody APC (2A9-1)		17-6099-42
Anti-human IL-17A monoclonal antibody APC (eBio64DEC17)		17-7179-42
Anti-human KIR2D monoclonal antibody FITC (NKVFS1)		130-092-687
Anti-human NKG2A monoclonal antibody APC (REA110)		130-113-563
Anti-human NKG2C monoclonal antibody PE-Vio [®] 615 (REA205)	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch	130-123-037
Anti-human TCR Vo1 monoclonal antibody PerCP-Vio®770	Gladbach, Germany	130-120-440
(REA173)		
Anti-human TCR Vδ2 monoclonal antibody PE (REA771)		130-111-010
Anti-human CD197 monoclonal antibody Brilliant Violet [™] 421 (G043H7)	BioLegend, San Diego, California, United States	353208

Clones indicated in parentheses. APC, allophycocyanin; CX3CR1, CX3C motif chemokine receptor 1; FITC, fluorescein isothiocyanate; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; KIR, killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor; NKG2A, natural killer group 2 member A; NKG2C, natural killer cell group 2 isoform C; PE, phycoerythrin; PerCP, peridinin chlorophyll-A protein; SB, super bright; TCR, T cell receptor; TNF, tumour necrosis factor.

3.3. Methods

3.3.1. Laboratory evaluation

After peripheral blood collection was performed, laboratory parameters were measured in the diagnostic laboratory of Thalassotherapia Opatija and Clinical Hospital Centre Rijeka as a part of their standard panels (**Table 3**). Immunochemical parameters were measured using commercially available assays (Roche Diagnostics GmBH, Basel, Switzerland) on the Cobas[®] 8000 analyser series cobas[®] e801 analytical unit (Roche Diagnostics International, Ltd, Rotkreuz, Switzerland). Complete blood count was determined by an automated haematology analyser. Standard urinalysis was supplemented by protein content measurement.

Insulin indices were calculated from laboratory parameters. To assess fasting plasma insulin (FPI) relative to FPG levels, Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and β -cell function (HOMA- β), as well as Quantitative insulin-sensitivity check index (QUICKI) were determined.

$$HOMA-IR = \frac{FPI \times FPG}{22.5} \qquad HOMA-\beta = \frac{20 \times FPI}{FPG - 3.5} \qquad QUICKI = \frac{1}{\log FPI + \log FPG}$$

Table 3. List of analysed blood parameters

Blood parameters	Blood tube type
Inflammatory marker: C reactive protein	BD Vacutainer®
Renal panel: urea, creatinine	Serum Separation
Liver panel: aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline	Tubes
phosphatase, γ-glutamic carboxylase	
Lipid panel: low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein	
cholesterol, total cholesterol, triglycerides	
Metabolic panel: fasting plasma glucose, insulin, C-peptide	
Serology: glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies, islet antigen-2	
autoantibodies	
Complete blood count	BD Vacutainer®
Glycated haemoglobin A _{1c}	K ₂ EDTA Tubes

K ₂ EDTA,	dipotassium	ethylened	liaminetetra	acetic acid.

3.3.2. Anthropometric evaluation

Weight and height were measured using a high-precision digital column scale with a stadiometer (Seca, Hamburg, Germany). Anthropometric parameters, including BMI, body fat and skeletal muscle mass, were measured by Tanita MC 780-P MA scale (Tanita Corp.) based on bioelectrical impedance analysis technology at Thalassotherapia Opatija. A standard cloth tape measure was used to record waist and hip circumference in cm.

3.3.3. Immune cell isolation protocols

3.3.3.1. Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells

Peripheral venous blood was collected between 7 and 9 a.m. into EDTA tubes from individuals who previously fasted for at least 10 hours. Sulfonylurea derivatives, dipeptidyl-peptidase-4 inhibitors and metformin were omitted 24-48h before the blood collection. PBMCs were isolated from full blood by density gradient centrifugation using Histopaque 1077 Density Gradient Medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) or Lymphoprep (ProteoGenix, Schiltigheim, France) within 6-8 hours of blood collection. The blood was transferred to a 50-ml conical centrifuge tube containing PBS in a 1:1 ratio. Blood diluted with PBS was then divided into half and each half is carefully layered onto 15 ml of Histopaque[®]-1077 in two 50-ml conical centrifuge tubes per study participant. The tubes were then centrifuged at $400 \times g$ (~2100 revolutions per minute, rpm) for 30 minutes at room temperature. After centrifugation, the buffy coat containing PBMCs was transferred into a clean 50-ml conical centrifuge tube containing 30 ml of PBS in a 1:3 ratio. The suspension was centrifuged at $300 \times g$ (~1500 rpm) for 15 minutes at 4°C, after which the supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 30 ml of PBS. Then, the suspension was centrifuged at $100 \times g$ (~700 rpm) for 10 minutes at 4°C, after which the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 4 ml of the freezing medium, consisting of FCS (Corning, Inc., Corning, New York, United States) and 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States), and 3 vials per study participant were cryopreserved at -80°C and later transferred to liquid nitrogen until use.

3.3.4. Cell counting

The number of cells per millilitre of the cell suspension was determined by Corning[®] Cell Counter (CytoSMART Technologies, Eindhoven, Netherlands) automated cell counter. Only live cells were counted with the use of trypan blue, vital stain that selectively colours dead cells blue. Fifteen microliters of cell

suspension were mixed with 15 μ l trypan blue (1:1) and 10 μ l of this mix was applied to the slide. The software would make an approximate cell count per millilitre of the cell suspension based on three to five visual fields.

3.3.5. Flow cytometry

The results of phenotypic and functional cell assays were obtained by flow cytometry using a FACSVerse (BD, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, United States) or FACSAria IIu (BD, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, United States) and analysed using FlowJo software (FlowJo LLC, Ashland, Oregon, United States).

3.3.5.1. Cell surface staining

Phenotypic lymphocyte analysis was performed by fluorophore-labelled antibodies that are specific to certain cellular markers. For flow cytometry, the single cell suspension of PBMCs was prepared according to the protocols described above. For the analysis of surface markers, labelled antibodies were diluted in FACS medium (40 μ l) containing specific antibodies. After 30 min of incubation at +4°C and in the dark, the cells were washed with FACS medium, centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300×g and resuspended in 50 μ l of intracellular fixation buffer (eBioScience, Inc., San Diego, California, United States). After 30 minutes of incubation at room temperature, the cells were washed with 100X permeabilisation buffer (eBioScience, Inc., San Diego, California, United States). The samples were stored up to seven days at +4°C and in the dark until flow cytometry analysis was performed.

3.3.3.2. Cytoplasmic intracellular cell staining

For cytoplasmic intracellular staining (IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-17A, Granzyme B; eBioscience, Inc., San Diego, California, United States), a kit for fixation and permeabilisation of cells was used according to the manufacturers' instructions (eBioscience, Inc., San Diego, California, United States). After cell surface staining, the cells were first fixed for 30 min at room temperature with Foxp3 fixation and permeabilisation mix (Concentrate to Diluent 1:3 ratio) and then washed in 100X permeabilisation buffer (eBioscience, Inc., San Diego, California, United States). After centrifugation, cells were incubated in 40 μ l of antibody mix for 30 minutes at +4°C. Cells were then washed, centrifuged at 300×g for 5 minutes and resuspended in FACS buffer for flow cytometry analysis on the same day.

3.3.3.3. Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester labelling

Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) labelling was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells that were in the medium with FCS were washed three times with PBS to remove proteins from the medium. Cells were resuspended in PBS and the volume was adjusted in order to achieve concentration of maximally 10⁷ cells/ml. Cells were mixed with CFSE (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) diluted in PBS in ratio 1:1 resulting with the final concentration of 2.5 µmol/l CFSE. Cells with CFSE were incubated for 10 min at 37°C in dark after which they were washed 2x with 1 ml of 10% RPMI.

3.3.3.4. Viability dye

Viability dye was used at a dilution factor of 1:150 in FACS medium together with cell surface staining antibodies. Cells were stained for 30 minutes at +4°C. eBioscience[™] Fixable Viability Dye eFluor[™] 506 was used for all stainings.

3.3.6. In vitro stimulations

PBMCs were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (PAN-Biotech), supplemented with 10% FCS (PAN-Biotech) and 2-ME (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States). For cytokine production analysis after *in vitro* stimulation, one million cells per well in Cellstar[®] U-bottom 96 well plate (Greiner Bio-One, Kremsmünster, Austria) were stimulated for 4h with 20 ng/ml Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) and 1 ng/ml Ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) in the presence of Brefeldin A (eBioscience, Inc., San Diego, California, United States). For proliferation analysis after *in vitro* stimulation, 500,000 cells per well in Cellstar[®] U-bottom 96 well plate (Greiner Bio-One, Kremsmünster, Austria) were stimulated for 72 and 96h with T Cell Activation and Expansion Kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) according to manufacturers' instructions and 120h with 100 ng/ml recombinant human IL-15 (PeproTech, Inc., Rocky Hill, Connecticut, United States).

3.3.7. Cytokine array

A bead-based immunoassay LEGENDplexTM Human Anti-Virus Response Panel (13-plex) with Vbottom Plate (BioLegend, San Diego, California, United States) was used to determine blood serum concentration of cytokines according to manufacturers' instructions. Data analysis was performed using Qognit software (Qognit Inc., San Carlos, California, United States).

3.3.8. Quantification and statistical analysis

Unless otherwise noted, data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or standard error of mean (SEM). For qualitative variables, Fisher or χ^2 test were used to determine the statistical significance of differences between study (sub)groups. Depending on the quantitative data distribution, statistical significance of differences between two independent groups was determined either by unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitney test, while paired t-test or Wilcoxon test were used for repeated measures. Spearman correlation analysis and regression model analysis were used to determine the nature of associations between clinical and immunological parameters in each group of study participants. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California, United States). Statistically significant differences were considered with *p* values of <0.050 (**p*<0.050, ***p*<0.010 and ****p*<0.001).

4. RESULTS

4.1. Baseline characteristics of study participants

This study was conducted to investigate how T2DM affects the immune system. To accomplish this, two groups of patients were carefully selected, with similar overall characteristics but differing in their T2DM status. Special attention was given to ensuring that both groups had low complication rates to eliminate the influence of tissue inflammation on the immune system. The study included 49 patients with T2DM, diagnosed in accordance with ADA guidelines [6], and 30 individuals who tested negative for T2DM and had no prior history of the condition. These two groups were referred to as the Diabetes group and the Control group, respectively (**Figure 3**). To further refine the Diabetes group, three specific exclusion criteria were applied: (1) HbA_{1c} levels below 7.0%, (2) patient-reported instances of high glucovariability or hypoglycaemic episodes within the past 6 months, and (3) a positive screening result for latent autoimmune diabetes of adults, as determined by C-peptide levels and titres of islet cell autoantibodies (**Figure 3**). Additionally, to eliminate potential factors that could impact the immune system, participants with active infections, neoplasms, or advanced renal disorders (defined by an estimated glomerular filtration rate or eGFR <45 ml/min per 1.73 m²) were excluded (**Figure 3**). Furthermore, blood collection was postponed for 4-6 weeks for patients with a recent history of infection or vaccination.

The demographic composition of the study groups was similar (**Table 4**). **Table 4** also provides a comparison of other baseline characteristics. In the Diabetes group, the mean HbA_{1c} level was 8.4% (**Table 4**). Approximately one-third of the participants had been diagnosed with T2DM within the two years preceding the study, while the remainder had an average duration of 10 years with the condition (**Table 5**). Non-drug-naïve patients had been on antidiabetic treatment regimens outlined in **Table 5** for a minimum of 3 months but discontinued them 24–48 hours prior to blood collection.

	Control (n=30)	Diabetes (n=49)	p value
Age, years	58±13 (53-68)	61±10 (57–68)	0.143
Female sex, n (%)	12 (40.00)	21 (42.86)	0.819
Glycated haemoglobin A _{1c} , %	5.4±0.4	8.4±1.1	< 0.001
Fasting plasma glucose, mmol/l	5.6±0.6	9.6±2.1	< 0.001
HOMA-insulin resistance	$3.00{\pm}1.88$	$8.80{\pm}7.00$	< 0.001
HOMA-beta cell function	11.65±5.26	$7.47{\pm}5.69$	0.002
Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index	$0.34{\pm}0.03$	$0.29{\pm}0.02$	< 0.001
Body mass index, kg/m ²	27.1±4.0	31.2±4.2	< 0.001
Body fat, %	28.1±8.4	31.9±7.9	0.093
Skeletal muscle index, kg/m ²	8.0±1.0	8.8±1.2	0.014
Waist-hip ratio	$0.90{\pm}0.09$	$0.97{\pm}0.07$	< 0.001
Leukocyte count, $\times 10^9$ per liter	6.4±1.7	7.6±2.2	0.012
C reactive protein, mg/l	2.5±2.5	3.3±2.5	0.157
Triglycerides, mmol/l	1.2±0.6	1.9±1.2	0.004
HDL cholesterol, mmol/l	1.6±0.5	1.2±0.3	< 0.001
LDL cholesterol, mmol/l	3.1±1.2	2.9±1.0	0.430
Total cholesterol, mmol/l	5.1±1.5	4.6±1.2	0.143
Statin use, <i>n</i> (%)	10 (33.33)	22 (44.90)	0.352
Aspartate aminotransferase, U/l	27±6	32±18	0.130
Alanine aminotransferase, U/l	27±7	42±29	0.007
Hepatic steatosis index	38.1±5.1	44.7±5.9	< 0.001
Triglyceride-glucose index	4.59±0.25	5.06 ± 0.29	< 0.001
NAFLD-liver fat score	1.1±1.0	2.8±2.7	0.002
Prior/current smoking, n (%)	15 (50.00)	20 (40.82)	0.488
Limited physical activity, $n(\%)^{a}$	13 (43.33)	26 (53.06)	0.489

Table 4. Baseline characteristics of study participants

Data shown as mean \pm SD unless otherwise specified. Age is reported as mean \pm SD (interquartile range). Unpaired t-test and Fisher exact test were used to determine the statistical significance at *p* value <0.050. HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HOMA, homeostatic model assessment; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease.

^a According to the New York Heart Association functional classification [104].

	Diabetes (<i>n</i> =49)
Short-term, n (%)	16 (32.65)
Long-term, n (%)	33 (67.35)
Disease duration, years	10±6 (6-10)
Retinopathy, <i>n</i> (%)	2 (4.08)
Polyneuropathy, n (%)	8 (16.33)
Nephropathy, n (%) ^a	
G3a	2 (6.67)
A2	10 (20.41)
Coronary heart disease, <i>n</i> (%)	11 (22.45)
Peripheral arterial disease, <i>n</i> (%)	2 (4.08)
Drug-naïve, n (%)	5 (10.20)
Metformin, n (%)	43 (87.76)
Sulfonylurea, n (%)	7 (14.29)
Pioglitazone, n (%)	4 (8.16)
Repaglinide, <i>n</i> (%)	1 (2.04)
Dipeptidyl-peptidase 4 inhibitor, n (%)	16 (32.65)
Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitor, n (%)	2 (4.08)
Liraglutide, n (%)	1 (2.04)

Table 5. Diabetes duration, complication rate and treatment of the Diabetes Group at inclusion

Diabetes duration is reported as mean \pm SD (interquartile range), other as indicated. ^a According to Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes classification based on estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria [105].

4.2. Type 2 diabetes does not impact the distribution of the leukocyte compartment

In previous research, when comparing individuals with T2DM to healthy controls and using less strict criteria for excluding inflammatory conditions, variations in their overall haematological profiles have been reported [106]. As a result, we conducted an initial assessment of patients with T2DM and control subjects, which involved routine analysis of blood samples and the measurement of C reactive protein (CRP), as outlined in **Table 4**. All participants exhibited CRP levels below 10 mg/l, and no discernible distinctions were noted between the two study groups. We did observe a minor elevation in the white blood cell count among patients with T2DM when compared to the control subjects. However, a more detailed analysis of the blood count revealed a proportional increase in all types of blood cells, with a similar relative distribution within the white blood cell compartment (**Figure 5**). The cellular component of the response to chronic metabolic dysregulation characterised by the recruitment of leukocytes to the circulation is closely associated with alterations in the humoral aspect of the response.

Studies indicate that elevated serum concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines are linked to the risk of developing T2DM and its chronic complications [107]. Nevertheless, a few studies have reported that serum cytokine levels remained similar in both healthy controls and diabetes patients, irrespective of their glycaemic control or the presence of complications [108]. In our study, serum levels of all cytokines were in the lower part of the detection range based on cytokine array results and no significant differences were detected between study groups due to stochastic effects (**Table 6**).

		Control (n=9)		Diabetes (n=21)	
Cytokine, unit	Median	SEM	Median	SEM	<i>p</i> value
IL-1β, pg/ml	5.827	3.494	4.262	1.195	0.144
IL-6, pg/ml	3.403	1.710	1.658	0.333	0.443
IL-8, pg/ml	12.880	3.445	15.070	10.330	0.593
IL-10, pg/ml	2.791	0.922	1.633	0.221	0.161
IL-12p70, pg/ml	1.225	0.856	0.567	0.249	0.199
TNF-α, pg/ml	14.720	4.818	4.185	1.259	0.138
IP-10, pg/ml	10.860	6.856	19.380	11.580	0.089
IFN- λ 1, pg/ml	30.700	5.187	32.820	13.140	0.567
IFN- $\lambda 2/3$, pg/ml	27.130	10.76	27.900	13.150	0.803
IFN-α2, pg/ml	3.531	1.180	1.695	0.568	0.150
IFN-β, pg/ml	5.082	1.549	5.027	2.416	0.535
IFN-γ, pg/ml	23.080	8.446	13.210	2.447	0.227
GM-CSF, pg/ml	5.801	2.176	2.706	0.797	0.262

 Table 6. Serum concentration of cytokines in a subcohort of patients with type 2 diabetes and control subjects.

A bead-based cytokine array was used to measure the concentration of 13 cytokines. Mann-Whitney test was used to determine the statistical significance at p value <0.050. GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; IP-10, interferon gamma-induced protein 10; TNF, tumour necrosis factor.



Figure 5. Blood lymphocytes of type 2 diabetes patients and control subjects show a similar distribution of subsets

Peripheral blood was collected from control subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). (ac) Differential blood count was reported for both groups. (a) Representative distribution of mean relative numbers of white blood cell subtypes. (b) Absolute and (c) relative number of lymphocytes in patients with T2DM (n=49) in comparison to control subjects (n=30). An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values \pm SEM and statistical significances at *p<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test.

4.3. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by CD8 T cells is increased in diabetes

Cytotoxic lymphocytes are specialised in targeting and eliminating non-immune cells that are under stress due to factors such as infection or oncogenic transformation. Previous *in vitro* studies have suggested that when cytotoxic lymphocytes are cultured in the presence of elevated glucose concentrations, their cytotoxic potential increases [109]. Based on this, we formulated a hypothesis that cytotoxic lymphocytes in patients with T2DM would exhibit a more responsive and pro-inflammatory profile compared to those in the control group. In humans, cytotoxic lymphocytes are predominantly composed of CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Therefore, our initial investigation focused on assessing the impact of T2DM on the phenotype and functionality of CD8⁺ T cells. We found no significant difference in the proportion of CD8⁺ T cells within the total lymphocyte population between the two study groups (**Figure 6a**). A more detailed analysis of CD8⁺ T cell subsets in patients with T2DM revealed only a minor reduction in the percentage of
effector CD45RA⁻ CD8⁺ T cells, along with a slight, though statistically non-significant, increase in CD45RA (T_{EMRA}) cells (**Figure 6b-e**). Additionally, the percentage of participants with CD57⁺ CD8⁺ T cells and CD57⁺ effector CD45RA⁻ CD8⁺ T cells, which are typically associated with cytomegalovirus infection [110], did not exhibit notable differences between the Diabetes and Control groups (**Figure 6f,g**). This suggests that individuals with T2DM have a similar history of viral infections when compared to the Control group.

To determine if the ability of $CD8^+$ T cells to undergo cell division is affected by diabetes, we exposed PBMCs labelled with CFSE to stimulation beads (anti-CD3/anti-CD28/anti-CD2) for a duration of 72 hours. We quantified the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells that had undergone at least one round of cell division by assessing the fluorescence intensity of CFSE (**Figure 6h**). In our analysis, we found no discernible difference in the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells undergoing proliferation upon *in vitro* stimulation when comparing patients with T2DM to control subjects (**Figure 6i**).



Figure 6. Type 2 diabetes is associated with minor changes in the phenotype and proliferative capacity of CD8 T cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from control subjects (n=30) and patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM, n=49). (a-g) Flow cytometry was used to analyse CD8⁺ T cells and their subsets. Within CD3⁺CD8⁺ T cells, C-C chemokine receptor type 7 and CD45RO were used to determine naïve (Quartile 1, Q1) and central memory (Q2) CD8⁺ T cells. In Q3 and Q4, an additional gate to determine effector CD45RA⁻ (RA⁻) and CD45RA⁺ (RA⁺, TEMRA) was used, respectively. Frequency of cell subsets based on the surface expression of CD57 on (f) CD8⁺ T cells and (g) a subset of effector CD45RA⁻ CD8⁺ T cells. (h,i) Cells labelled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) were incubated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28/anti-

CD2 stimulation beads for 72h. (h) Representative histograms of CFSE-labelled cells, gated for live CD3⁺CD8⁺ cells. (i) Quantification of proliferating CD8⁺ T cells in a subcohort of patients with T2DM (n=33) compared to control subjects (n=15). All the experiments were performed once unless otherwise indicated. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values ± SEM and statistical significances at *p<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test, unless otherwise specified.

Next, we conducted an assessment of the functionality of CD8⁺ T cells in patients with T2DM and control individuals using direct *ex vivo* stimulation assays. To investigate cytokine production by CD8⁺ T cells, we employed intracellular flow cytometry after exposing the cells to 4 hours of standard PMA/Ionomycin stimulation in the presence of Brefeldin A (**Figure 7a-i**). Our findings revealed a noteworthy increase in the production of TNF- α by CD8⁺ T cells in patients with T2DM when compared to the control group (**Figure 7b,e**). This trend was consistent for all CD8⁺ T cell subsets (**Figure 7f-i**) and reached statistical significance within the naïve and effector CD45RA⁻ CD8⁺ T cell populations.

We formulated a hypothesis suggesting that elevated blood sugar levels in patients with T2DM might be responsible for triggering increased responsiveness in CD8⁺ T cells. To directly explore this, we performed an *in vitro* experiment. PBMCs from control subjects were exposed to glucose concentrations representative of both physiological and hyperglycaemic conditions during a 4-hour *in vitro* stimulation. Subsequently, we measured the production of TNF- α by CD8⁺ T cells using flow cytometry. Different glucose concentrations did not adversely affect the cell viability during the course of experiment (**Figure 7j**). What we observed was that an increase in the medium glucose concentration, shifting from 5 to 11 mmol/1, led to an increase in TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 7k**).

Consequently, it seems that the phenotype and proliferative capacity of $CD8^+$ T cells remain relatively unaffected by T2DM, while there is a notable increase in their production of TNF- α . These findings suggest that elevated glucose levels may contribute to this phenomenon to some extent.



Figure 7. Type 2 diabetes is associated with increased tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by CD8 T cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from control subjects (n=30) and patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM, n=49). (a-i) Cells were stimulated with Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/Ionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 hours and cytokine production was determined by intracellular flow cytometry

in CD8⁺ T cells, and (a-d) cytokine production by CD8⁺ T cells of patients with T2DM (*n*=49) in comparison to control subjects (*n*=30) was quantified. (e) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), gated for live CD3⁺CD8⁺ cells. (f-i) Quantification of TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cell subsets of patients with T2DM (*n*=49) in comparison to control subjects (*n*=30). All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values ± SEM and statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test, unless otherwise specified. (j,k) Cells isolated from control subjects (*n*=5) were exposed to different concentrations of glucose during 4 hours of PMA/Ionomycin stimulation in the presence of Brefeldin A. (j) Cell viability and (k) TNF- α production was determined by flow cytometry and intracellular flow cytometry in CD8⁺ T cells, respectively. The experiment was performed three times with similar results. Statistical significance at **p*<0.050 was determined by paired t-test. GzmB, Granzyme B; IL, interleukin. An individual point represents one participant.

4.5. Type 2 diabetes is associated with hyperresponsive gamma delta T cells

To explore whether the increased responsiveness observed in cytotoxic cells is specific to CD8⁺ T cells, we turned our attention to the influence of T2DM on the characteristics and function of peripheral blood gamma delta ($\gamma\delta$) T cells. These $\gamma\delta$ T cells represent a relatively small subgroup of unconventional T cells that serve as a bridge between adaptive and innate immunity. Our analysis revealed no discernible distinctions in the frequency of the most common blood $\gamma\delta$ T cell populations, which include V δ 1⁺ and V δ 2⁺ cells (**Figure 8a,b**), or in their respective subsets (**Figure 8c-f**).

Similar to our earlier assessment of CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 6h,i**), we examined the proliferative capacity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This examination involved PBMCs labelled with CFSE and exposed to anti-CD3/anti-CD28/anti-CD2 stimulation beads for a duration of 96 hours. Notably, we found no significant differences in the percentage of proliferating V δ 1⁺ and V δ 2⁺T cells when comparing patients with T2DM to the control group (**Figure 8g,h**).

In the subsequent functional analysis, we found that, much like CD8⁺ T cells, $V\delta1^+\gamma\delta$ T cells in patients with T2DM exhibited higher levels of TNF- α production when compared to the control group. Furthermore, these cells showed elevated production of both IFN- γ and Granzyme B, whereas V $\delta2^+$ cells predominantly exhibited increased levels of Granzyme B production (**Figure 9a-i**). Interestingly, their production of IL-17A remained unaffected by diabetes (**Figure 9j,k**).

In summary, similar to CD8⁺ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells in individuals with T2DM displayed a hyperresponsive cytokine profile, suggesting that they may contribute to the pro-inflammatory milieu often observed in these patients.



Figure 8. Gamma delta T cell phenotype and proliferative capacity are not affected by type 2 diabetes mellitus

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from control subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). (a-f) Cells were analysed by flow cytometry. Quantification of (a) $V\delta 1^+$ and (b) $V\delta 2^+$ gamma delta ($\gamma\delta$) T cells and (c-f) their subsets, of patients with T2DM (*n*=49) in comparison to control (*n*=30). Within cells expressing CD3 and V δ 1⁺ subjects or $V\delta 2^+$ on their surface, CD27^{hi}CD45RA^{int}CD28⁺CX3CR1⁻ cells were characterised as naïve, whereas CD27^{lo}CD45RA^{hi}CD28⁻ CX3CR1⁺ cells were characterised as effector. (g,h) Cells labelled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) were incubated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28/anti-CD2 stimulation beads for 96 hours. Fluorescence intensity of CFSE was measured by flow cytometry and used to quantify the frequency of proliferating V δ 1⁺ and V δ 2⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in a subcohort of patients with T2DM (*n*=32) compared to control subjects (n=19). All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values \pm SEM and statistical significances at *p<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test.



Figure 9. Gamma delta T cells of type 2 diabetes patients are hyperresponsive to in vitro stimulation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from control subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM). (a-d) Cells were stimulated *in vitro* with Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/Ionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 hours and cytokine production was determined by intracellular flow cytometry in V δ 1⁺ and V δ 2⁺ γ δ T cells. Quantification of (a) interferon-gamma (IFN-γ) and (b) tumour necrosis factoralpha (TNF-α) production by V δ 1⁺, as well as (c,d) Granzyme B (GzmB) production by (c) V δ 1⁺ and (d) V δ 2⁺ γ δ T cells of patients with T2DM (*n*=49) in comparison to control subjects (*n*=30). (e-g) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with (e) IFN-γ and TNF-α, gated for live CD3⁺V δ 1⁺ and (g) CD3⁺V δ 2⁺ cells. (h-k) Quantification of (h) IFN-γ and (i) TNF-α production by V δ 2⁺, as well as interleukin-17A (IL-17A) by (j) V δ 1⁺ and (k) V δ 2⁺ γ δ T cells, of patients with T2DM (*n*=49) in comparison to control subjects (*n*=30). All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values \pm SEM and statistical significances at *p<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test.

4.6. Natural killer cells of diabetes patients produce more Granzyme B than control subjects

In contrast to CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells play a pivotal role in the early phases of antiviral immune response. Recent transcriptomic and proteomic analyses of the immune response in severe early-stage COVID-19 cases have established a connection between the functional impairment of NK cells and adverse disease outcomes [111]. Given that diabetes has been identified as a significant risk factor for increased mortality in association with COVID-19 [112], we conducted an investigation into the impact of diabetes on the phenotype and functionality of NK cells using flow cytometry. Our analysis did not reveal any noteworthy differences in the frequency of the main NK cell subsets characterised by the expression of CD56 between the study groups (**Figure 10a, b**). A more detailed examination of the more frequent CD56^{dim} subgroup (**Figure 10c-f**) showed only a slight reduction in maturing and intermediate NK cells in patients with T2DM in comparison to individuals in the control group. Additionally, there was a slight, albeit statistically non-significant, concurrent increase in mature NK cells. Furthermore, we explored whether diabetes influenced the expression of NKG2D, an activating receptor that has been extensively studied in the context of viral infections [113]. In our investigation, we observed a decreased percentage of NKG2D⁺ CD56^{dim} NK cells in patients with T2DM when compared to control subjects (**Figure 10g, h**).

To assess the proliferative capacity of NK cells, which was quantified based on CFSE fluorescence intensity, we employed flow cytometry after *in vitro* stimulation of PBMCs with IL-15 for a duration of 120 hours. Corresponding to our prior observations with CD8⁺ T and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, we detected no significant differences in the percentage of proliferating NK cells when comparing patients with T2DM to control subjects (**Figure 10i**).



Figure 10. Natural killer cells of patients with type 2 diabetes exhibit a more mature phenotype in comparison to control subjects

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from control subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM). (a-h) Cells were analysed by flow cytometry. (a,b) Immune cell count for (a) CD56^{bright} and (b) CD56^{dim} natural killer (NK) cells, and (c-f) quantification of CD56^{dim} NK cell subsets, of patients with T2DM (n=49) in comparison to control subjects (n=30). The surface expression of NK cell group 2 member A (NKG2A) and killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) 2D subtype (KIR2D) on CD56^{dim} NK cells was used to determine maturing (quartile 1, Q1), intermediate (Q2) and mature (Q3) NK cells. Mature NK cells expressing CD57 represent terminally differentiated NK cells, and within the latter, a subgroup of NK group 2C (NKG2C)-expressing cells were determined (memory NK cells). (g,h) Quantification of NK cell subgroups based on the surface expression of NK cell group 2 member D (NKG2D) on (g) CD56^{dim} and (h) CD56^{bright} NK cells, of patients with T2DM (n=49) in comparison to control subjects (n=30). (i) Cells labelled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) were incubated with IL-15 for 120 hours. Fluorescence intensity of CFSE was measured by flow cytometry and used to quantify the frequency of proliferating NK cells in a subcohort of patients with T2DM (n=27) compared to control subjects (n=17).

All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values \pm SEM and statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test.

Subsequently, we utilised intracellular flow cytometry analysis following *in vitro* stimulation of PBMCs to identify functional alterations in NK cells among patients with T2DM. In this assessment, we observed no distinctions in the production of IFN- γ and TNF- α by NK cells between study groups (**Figure 11a,b**). However, similar to $\gamma\delta$ T cells, we did observe an increase in Granzyme B production by NK cells in patients with T2DM in comparison to those in the control group (**Figure 11c,d**).

In summary, our findings reveal that T2DM is associated with an increased pro-inflammatory profile in NK cells, potentially contributing to an aggravated response to severe infections, such as those caused by SARS-CoV-2.



Figure 11. Granzyme B production by natural killer cells is increased in patients with type 2 diabetes

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from control subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM). (a-d) Cells were stimulated *in vitro* with Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/Ionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 hours and cytokine production was determined by intracellular flow cytometry in NK cells. Quantification of (a) interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), (b) tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and (c) Granzyme B (GzmB) production by NK cells of patients with T2DM (*n*=49) in comparison to control subjects (*n*=30). (d) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with GzmB,

gated for live CD3⁻CD56⁺ cells. All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values \pm SEM and statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test.

4.7. Inflammatory profile of cytotoxic lymphocytes correlates with age and diabetes duration

Next, our aim was to identify the factors associated with the observed functional changes in cytotoxic blood lymphocytes in the context of diabetes. We initially hypothesised that hyperglycaemia might be the primary driver behind the hyperresponsiveness seen in these cells. To investigate this, we conducted a correlation and regression analysis, examining TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells in relation to HbA_{1c} levels. Surprisingly, we were unable to identify any significant associations between these parameters (**Figure 12a**). We also compared cytokine production by cytotoxic lymphocytes in patients with T2DM based on their HbA_{1c} values using a cut-off point of 8.0%, but we found no significant differences in cytokine production between these subgroups (**Figure 12b,c**). Additionally, there was no observable association between increased cytokine production and plasma glucose values relative to insulin levels, as measured by insulin indices (**Figure 12d**). These observations suggest that glycaemic levels alone do not account for the hyperresponsiveness of cytotoxic lymphocytes in patients with T2DM.

Type 2 diabetes mellitus typically occurs in individuals with obesity, a chronic metabolic condition characterised by a BMI of 30 kg/m² or higher, or body fat percentages exceeding 28% and 20% for females and males, respectively. Additional clinical metrics, such as waist circumference and waist-hip ratio (WHR) are also commonly used to identify patients with visceral obesity who may face a higher risk of cardiometabolic issues. In our study groups, significant disparities were evident in most anthropometric indicators of obesity (**Table 4**). Consequently, we aimed to explore the impact of obesity on lymphocyte function through subgroup analysis within the cohort of patients with T2DM. Our analysis revealed a positive correlation between TNF- α production by V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells and WHR (**Figure 12e**). Nonetheless, patients with diabetes who had a BMI of 30 kg/m² or higher exhibited lower cytokine production by CD8⁺ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells when compared to those with normal weight and overweight individuals (**Figure 12f-h**). Conversely, the elevated TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells could not be explained by body fat percentage in patients with T2DM (**Figure 12i**). Additionally, we observed a negative correlation between TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells and the skeletal muscle index (**Figure 12j**). These findings suggest that having adequate skeletal muscle mass and a lower amount of visceral fat, rather than the total body fat percentage, may play a pivotal role in mitigating obesity-induced systemic inflammation in patients with T2DM.



Figure 12. Adequate skeletal muscle mass and a low amount of visceral fat may attenuate systemic inflammation in patients with type 2 diabetes

Subgroup analysis, Spearman correlation and regression analysis were performed in both study groups. (a) Correlation and regression analysis between tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) production by CD8⁺ T

cells and glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA_{1c}) values in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM, *n*=49). (b,c) Comparison of (b) TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells and (c) Granzyme B (GzmB) production by natural killer (NK) cells of patients with T2DM with HbA_{1c} level <8.0 (*n*=22) or ≥8.0% (*n*=27). (d) Correlation analysis between immunological and clinical parameters in patients with T2DM (*n*=49). Correlation matrix with Spearman correlation coefficient (r_s) indicated by two-colour gradient and numerically represented *p* values considered statistically significant at <0.050. (e) The association between waist-hip ratio and the percentage of TNF- α^+ V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells of patients with T2DM (*n*=49). (f-h) Comparison of cytokine production by (f) CD8⁺ and (g,h) gamma delta ($\gamma\delta$) T cells in patients with T2DM considered normal- or overweight (*n*=16) and obese (*n*=33). (i,j) The association between anthropometric parameters and the percentage of (i) TNF- α^+ CD8⁺ T cells, and (j) TNF- α^+ V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, of patients with T2DM (*n*=49). An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values ± SEM and statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test, unless otherwise specified. Regression analyses with statistically significant *p* value at <0.050 represented as mean and 95% confidence area of the best-fit line. HOMA-B, homeostatic model assessment-beta cell function; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance; IFN, interferon; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index.

As individuals grow older, their cardiometabolic risk tends to rise, often leading to a subsequent disruption in the functioning of the immune system [114]. Metabolic dysregulation has been hypothesised to trigger the persistent activation of immune cells, characterised by a pro-inflammatory and senescent phenotype, particularly in the elderly [80]. As a result, we conducted an investigation to explore the relationship between age and the observed alterations in cytokine production. Surprisingly, our subgroup and correlation analyses revealed that older patients with T2DM had higher levels of TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 13a,b**). However, this trend did not translate to the Control group (**Figure 13c**). These findings suggest that metabolic dysregulation in patients with T2DM contributes to the creation of a systemic pro-inflammatory environment, which in turn exacerbates the age-related changes in the immune response.

We hypothesised that the hyperresponsiveness of cytotoxic lymphocytes might be more pronounced after prolonged exposure to a diabetic environment. To explore this, we compared the cytokine production by cytotoxic lymphocytes in patients who were diagnosed with T2DM within 2 years before their inclusion in the study and those who had been living with long-term T2DM. In our analysis, we observed that an extended duration of T2DM was associated with increased Granzyme B production by NK cells but did not lead to a rise in TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 13d,e**). However, it is important to note that the duration of diabetes is sometimes underestimated in asymptomatic patients or due to irregular check-ups and delayed diagnosis. To account for this, we used renal parameters as surrogate markers for estimating diabetes duration since a glomerular filtration rate decline typically occurs in the later stages of T2DM. Our analysis unveiled a negative correlation between eGFR and TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 13e**). Additionally, we showed that our observations were not associated with comorbidities or medication use (**Figure 14**).

Our results indicate that the duration of T2DM plays a central role in driving hyperresponsiveness among cytotoxic immune cells, significantly intensifying the process of inflammageing in these individuals.



Figure 13. Hyperresponsive state of cytotoxic blood lymphocytes is associated with older age and longer diabetes duration

Subgroup analysis, Spearman correlation and regression analysis between immunological and clinical parameters were performed in both study groups. (a) Comparison of tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) production by CD8⁺ T cells of patients with type 2 diabetes below (T2DM, *n*=29) or above the age of 65 (*n*=20). (b,c) Correlation and regression analysis between the percentage of TNF- α^+ CD8⁺ T cells and age in (b) patients with T2DM (*n*=49) and (c) control subjects (*n*=30). Regression analyses with statistically significant *p* value at <0.050 represented as mean and 95% confidence area of the best-fit line. (d,e) Comparison of (d) Granzyme B (GzmB) production by natural killer (NK) cells, and (e) TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells, in patients with short-term (*n*=16) or long-term (*n*=33) T2DM, defined as follow-up up to or longer than 2 years, respectively. (f) Correlation matrix with Spearman correlation coefficient (*r*_s) indicated by two-colour gradient and numerically represented *p* values considered statistically significant at <0.050. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are mean values ± SEM and statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by the Mann-Whitney test, unless otherwise specified. ACR, albumincreatinine ratio; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; IFN, interferon.



Figure 14. Functional alterations in cytotoxic lymphocytes of type 2 diabetes patients is not associated with comorbidities, cardiovascular risk factors or medication use.

Correlation analysis in patients with type 2 diabetes (n=49), based on the presence of (a) complications, comorbidities and cardiovascular risk factors, (b) concomitant and (c) antidiabetic medication use. Correlation matrix with Spearman (r_s) and point-biserial correlation coefficient (r_{pb}) indicated by two-colour gradient and numerically represented p values considered statistically significant at <0.050. AB, alpha blockers; ACEi, angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors; ARB, angiotensin receptor blockers; BB, beta blockers; CCB, calcium-channel blockers; DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; DPP4-i, dipeptidyl-peptidase 4 inhibitors; DR, diabetic retinopathy; GzmB, Granzyme B; IFN, interferon; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular event; MRA, mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists; NYHA, New York Heart Association; PAD, peripheral arterial disease; SGLT-2i, sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors; TNF, tumour necrosis factor.

4.8. Optimal antidiabetic treatment reverts hyperinflammation in type 2 diabetes patients

Patients exhibiting poor control of T2DM who met the criteria for initiating SGLT-2i and/or GLP-1RA, the current drugs of choice in patients not reaching glycaemic targets on metformin or other treatment regimens, continued to the longitudinal part of the study. Following a three-month period of the newly implemented treatment regimen, a re-evaluation of their HbA1c levels was conducted. Subsequently, a comprehensive assessment, including blood collection, anthropometric measurements, and flow cytometry analysis of cytotoxic lymphocytes, was repeated at the 6-month follow-up visit for the subset of 31 patients who achieved a 3-month HbA_{1c} level below 7.0%. Clinical evaluation and laboratory assessment were used again to exclude patients with immunomodulating factors (refer to Exclusion criteria in **Table 1**).

A comparative analysis of clinical characteristics before and after reaching glycaemic targets through treatment optimisation is provided in **Table 7** and **Table 8**. As anticipated, patients not only achieved their glycaemic targets but also showed improvements in insulin sensitivity indices, effectively managed their weight and lipid profiles, and demonstrated a reduction in markers of liver inflammation (**Table 8**).

	Diabetes follow-up subcohort (n=31)
Age, years	60±11 (54–68)
Female sex, n (%)	12 (38.71)
Short-term diabetes, <i>n</i> (%)	13 (41.94)
Long-term diabetes, n (%)	18 (58.06)
Disease duration, years	10±7 (5–10)
Retinopathy, n (%)	0 (0.00)
Polyneuropathy, <i>n</i> (%)	3 (9.68)
Nephropathy, n (%) ^a	
G3a	3 (9.68)
A2	8 (25.81)
Coronary heart disease, n (%)	7 (22.58)
Peripheral arterial disease, n (%)	2 (6.45)
Antidiabetic treatment, n (%)	
Metformin	31 (100.00)
Dapagliflozin	23 (74.19)
Empagliflozin	8 (25.81)
Semaglutide	14 (45.16)

Table 7. Patient characteristics of the diabetes follow-up subcohort

Age and diabetes duration are reported as mean \pm SD (interquartile range). ^a According to Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes classification based on estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria [105].

	Baseline (<i>n</i> =31)	Six months (<i>n</i> =31)	p value
Glycated haemoglobin A _{1c} , %	8.6±1.1	6.5±0.4	< 0.001
Fasting plasma glucose, mmol/l	9.7±2.2	6.8±1.0	< 0.001
HOMA-insulin resistance	7.8±4.3	4.5±2.9	< 0.001
HOMA-beta cell function	7.1±4.3	9.5±6.8	0.008
Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index	0.29 ± 0.02	0.32 ± 0.03	< 0.001
Body mass index, kg/m ²	31.5±4.1	29.1±3.7	< 0.001
Body fat, %	31.4±8.2	29.7±10.0	0.037
Skeletal muscle index, kg/m ²	9.0±1.2	8.4±1.2	< 0.001
Waist-hip ratio	0.98 ± 0.07	0.95 ± 0.06	0.057
Leukocyte count, $\times 10^9$ per litre	7.7±2.0	7.7±2.1	0.867
C reactive protein, mg/l	3.1±2.3	2.0±2.4	< 0.001
Triglycerides, mmol/l	1.8±1.1	1.6±0.9	0.034
HDL cholesterol, mmol/l	1.2±0.3	1.3±0.3	0.005
LDL cholesterol, mmol/l	2.8 ± 0.9	2.2±0.9	< 0.001
Total cholesterol, mmol/l	4.5±1.2	4.1±1.2	0.011
Statin use, <i>n</i> (%)	13 (41.94)	21 (67.74)	0.073
Aspartate aminotransferase, U/l	33±19	27±12	0.028
Alanine aminotransferase, U/l	45±33	29±13	< 0.001
Hepatic steatosis index	45.1±6.1	41.0±5.0	< 0.001
Triglyceride-glucose index	5.05±0.27	4.80±0.25	< 0.001
NAFLD-liver fat score	2.6±1.9	1.6±1.6	< 0.001

Table 8. Comparison of clinical characteristics before and after treatment change in patients with type 2 diabetes

Data shown as mean \pm SD unless otherwise specified. Paired t-test and Fisher exact test were used to determine the statistical significance at *p* value <0.050. HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HOMA, homeostatic model assessment; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease.

To address our main research question regarding the reversibility of diabetes-induced alterations in lymphocyte function, we employed intracellular flow cytometry to analyse cytotoxic lymphocytes after six months of treatment, comparing the results to baseline levels (**Figure 15a-d**). Optimal antidiabetic treatment demonstrated a remarkable reduction in IFN- γ and TNF- α , as well as Granzyme B production by CD8⁺ T cells after direct *ex vivo* stimulation in patients with type 2 diabetes (**Figure 15a-c, e-f**). Conversely, IL-2 production by CD8⁺ T cells in patients with type 2 diabetes exhibited no significant change before and after treatment (**Figure 15d**). These observations suggest that optimal antidiabetic treatment may effectively alleviate the hyperinflammatory state of CD8⁺ T cells in patients with poorly-regulated type 2 diabetes.



Figure 15. Optimal antidiabetic treatment reverts hyperinflammatory response of CD8 T cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from patients with initially poorly-regulated type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) who reached target glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} levels at two time points: before and six months after treatment optimisation. Cells were stimulated with Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/Ionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 hours and cytokine production was determined by intracellular flow cytometry in CD8⁺ T cells, and (a-d) cytokine production by CD8⁺ T cells of patients with T2DM pre-treatment in comparison to 6 months post-treatment (*n*=31) was quantified. (e,f) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with (e) interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), and (f) Granzyme B (GzmB) and interleukin-2 (IL-2), gated for live CD3⁺CD8⁺ cells from the same patient at two time points. All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by Wilcoxon test.

Next, we compared the direct *ex vivo* cytokine production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells analysed by intracellular flow cytometry. In line with CD8⁺ T cells, we observed a consistent pattern of reduced IFN- γ and TNF- α production by both V δ 1⁺ and V δ 2⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment (**Figure 16a-f**). In contrast, Granzyme B production by V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells showed a slight reduction, while there was no significant change in its production by V δ 2⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (**Figure 16g-i**). Our findings demonstrate that optimal antidiabetic treatment leads to a reduction in cytokine production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells upon stimulation. However, the impact on suppressing Granzyme B production is less prominent compared to CD8⁺ T cells.



Figure 16. Hyperinflammatory state of gamma delta T cells in diabetes may be reverted by optimal antidiabetic treatment

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from patients with initially poorly-regulated type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) who reached target glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} levels at two time points: before and six months after treatment optimisation. Cells were stimulated with Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/Ionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 hours and cytokine production was determined by intracellular flow cytometry in $\gamma\delta$ T cells. (a-d) Cytokine production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells of patients with T2DM pre-treatment in comparison to 6 months post-treatment (*n*=31) was quantified. (e,f) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), gated for (e) CD3⁺V δ 1⁺, and (f) CD3⁺V δ 2⁺ cells from the same patient. (g,h) Quantification of Granzyme B (GzmB) production by (g) V δ 1⁺ and (h) V δ 2⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells. (i) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with GzmB, gated for (e) CD3⁺V δ 1⁺ cells from the same patient at two time points. All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are statistical significances at **p*<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by Wilcoxon test.

Lastly, we investigated the alterations in cytokine production by NK cells in patients with T2DM following six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment. While no significant difference was observed in IFN- γ and TNF- α production by NK cells (**Figure 17a,b**), our results demonstrate a slight reduction in Granzyme B production by NK cells in patients with T2DM after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment (**Figure 17c,d**).

These findings reveal the potential reversibility of diabetes-induced alterations in specific functional aspects of cytotoxic lymphocytes through optimised antidiabetic treatment, providing valuable insights for future therapeutic strategies targeting hyperinflammation in individuals with type 2 diabetes.



Figure 17. Natural killer cells of patients with type 2 diabetes produce less Granzyme B after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from patients with initially poorly-regulated type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) who reached target glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} levels at two time points: before and six months after treatment optimisation. Cells were stimulated with Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/Ionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 hours and cytokine production was determined by intracellular flow cytometry in natural killer (NK) cells. (a-c) Cytokine production by NK cells of patients with T2DM pre-treatment in comparison to 6 months post-treatment (n=31) was quantified. (d) Representative fluorescence-activated cell sorting plots of cells stained with Granzyme B (GzmB), gated for NK cells (CD3⁻CD56⁺) from the same patient at two time points. All the experiments were performed once. An individual point represents one participant. Indicated are statistical significances at *p<0.050, **<0.010 and ***<0.001 by Wilcoxon test.

4.9. Optimal antidiabetic treatment reverts hyperinflammation independent of glucoselowering and weight-management effects

To delve deeper into the factors contributing to the observed functional alterations in cytotoxic lymphocytes, we conducted a comprehensive subgroup, correlation and regression analysis. First, we performed a comparative analysis of treatment groups. To our surprise, no differences in immunological parameters between the patients treated with SGLT-2i and metformin (Group 1), and those receiving SGLT-2i, GLP-1RA and metformin (Group 2) were observed (**Figure 18a**). Both antidiabetic treatment regimens examined in our study appear to exert a comparable impact on the functional profile of cytotoxic lymphocytes. Subsequently, we expanded our analysis to statins, given that they were the only other class of medications introduced between baseline and the 6-month follow-up visits (**Table 8**). To assess the potential influence of statins, we compared functional changes of cytotoxic lymphocytes in a subgroup of patients introduced to statin therapy during the follow-up period with those who were not. Our analysis revealed that cytokine production by cytotoxic lymphocytes might have been affected by statin use, but this association reached statistical significance only in the case of TNF- α production by $\delta 2^+ \gamma \delta$ T cells (**Figure 18b**). Statin use, therefore, could be a minor contributing factor for observed changes in lymphocyte treatment.

After six months of antidiabetic treatment, patients with T2DM reached their glycaemic targets and remarkably improved their HbA_{1c} and FPG levels, as well as insulin sensitivity indices (**Table 8**). Subsequently, we explored the role of glycaemia in reverting immunological changes with optimal antidiabetic treatment by examining the correlation between improvements in glycaemia and absolute changes in TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 18c,d**). We could not detect a significant association between these parameters nor between other observed immunological changes and different markers of glycaemia and insulin sensitivity (**Figure 18e**). Furthermore, we conducted a correlation analysis for the relative changes in the parameters of interest. The highest percent improvement in FPG and HOMA-B after 6 months of optimal antidiabetic treatment were associated with the highest percent reduction in TNF- α production by $\delta 2^+ \gamma \delta$ T cells (**Figure 18f,g**). These findings imply that improvement in glycaemia alone may not account for the observed functional changes in the antiviral arm of the immune response. Instead, it appears that the functional profile of a relatively small subset of $\delta 2^+ \gamma \delta$ T cells could be more responsive to shifts in glucose homeostasis during antidiabetic treatment compared to other cytotoxic lymphocytes.



Figure 18. Beneficial effects of optimal antidiabetic treatment are only partly associated with improvement in glycaemia

Subgroup analysis, Spearman correlation and regression analysis were performed. (a,b) Comparison of immunological changes between (a) treatment Group 1 (n=17) and Group 2 (n=14) based on antidiabetic treatment received, and (b) group of patients introduced with statin (n=8) and those who were not (n=23). Two-way ANOVA was used to determine the statistical significance at p value <0.050. Data presented as p values for a set of row factors (Time, i.e. 0 vs. 6 months), Column factors (Treatment, i.e. Group 1 vs. Group 2) and Interaction of both factors. (c,d) Correlation and regression analysis between absolute change in

tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) production by CD8⁺ T cells and improvement in (c) glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA_{1c}) values, and (d) fasting plasma glucose (FPG) in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM) after 6 months of optimal antidiabetic treatment (*n*=31). (e) Correlation analysis between absolute changes in immunological and clinical parameters in patients with T2DM (*n*=31). Correlation matrix with Spearman correlation coefficient (r_s) indicated by two-colour gradient and numerically represented *p* values considered statistically significant at <0.050. (f) The association between percent change in FPG and homeostatic model assessment of beta cell function (HOMA-B), and the percent change of TNF- α ⁺ V δ 2⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells of patients with T2DM (*n*=31) after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment. An individual point represents one participant. Regression analyses with statistically significant *p* value at <0.050 represented as mean and 95% confidence area of the best-fit line. GzmB, Granzyme B; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance; IFN, interferon; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index.

Considering the pleiotropic effects of the studied treatment regimens, encompassing improvements in multiple cardiometabolic health indicators extending beyond glucose control (**Table 8**), we performed a more in-depth analysis between observed immunological changes and changes in other laboratory parameters beyond the markers of glucose homeostasis. Since we could not fully exclude the impact of statin use on lymphocyte function, we first performed a correlation analysis between immunological parameters and lipid profile parameters (**Figure 19a**). However, our results indicate that there is no significant association between the improvement in lipid profile and the reduction in cytokine production by cytotoxic lymphocytes. Next, we addressed the improvement in markers of liver inflammation observed after six months of antidiabetic treatment. Our results showed only a weak correlation between the change in Granzyme B production by $V\delta1^+ \gamma\delta$ T cells and improvement in aspartate and alanine aminotransferase levels (**Figure 19b**), while there was no significant association between other parameters.

A major favourable effect of treatment with SGLT-2i, but even more so with GLP-1RA, is weight management. To assess the effect of weight reduction and change in body composition occurring after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment, we employed a correlation analysis for observed functional changes in cytotoxic lymphocytes. Whereas we could not detect a significant association between the majority of anthropometric indices and immunological changes (**Figure 19c**), an association between the percent change in skeletal muscle mass and IFN- γ production by V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was revealed (**Figure 19d**). Our findings suggest that treatment-induced changes in body weight and composition influence only a minor subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Lastly, in line with the first part of this study, we tested whether patients with a longer disease duration might also have the biggest benefit after six months of antidiabetic treatment. Indeed, patients with a longer diabetes duration showed a greater reduction in TNF- α production by V $\delta 2^+ \gamma \delta$ T cells after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment (**Figure 19e**).

In conclusion, only for $\gamma\delta$ T cells does hyperresponsiveness to be directly associated with systemic values of some metabolic parameters. However, for most other subsets we could not identify a unique contributing factor affecting all immunological parameters after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment. Nevertheless, we did observe a striking reduction in immune cell hyperresponsiveness for all immune cell subsets investigated. We therefore hypothesize that the regulation of immune cell function is a result of a complex interplay between multiple cardiometabolic factors and that pleiotropic effects of optimal antidiabetic treatment generate an anti-inflammatory milieu for cytotoxic lymphocytes and decrease their overall responsiveness to non-specific stimuli.



Figure 19. Patients with longer diabetes duration may benefit the most from the anti-inflammatory effects of optimal antidiabetic treatment

Spearman correlation and regression analysis were performed. (a-c) Correlation analysis between absolute changes in immunological and clinical parameters, particularly (a) lipid profile, (b) liver inflammation markers, and (c) anthropometric measurements in patients with T2DM (n=31). Correlation matrix with

Spearman correlation coefficient (r_s) indicated by two-colour gradient and numerically represented *p* values considered statistically significant at <0.050. (d,e) The association between (d) the percent change in interferon gamma (IFN- γ) production by V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells and skeletal muscle mass, and (e) the percent change of TNF- α ⁺ V δ 2⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells and disease duration of patients with T2DM (*n*=31) after six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment. An individual point represents one participant. Regression analyses with statistically significant *p* value at <0.050 represented as mean and 95% confidence area of the best-fit line. ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; GzmB, Granzyme B; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; HSI, hepatic steatosis index; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; NAFLD-LFS, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease liver fat score; TyG, triglyceride-glucose; WHR, waist-hip ratio.

5. DISCUSSION

The ageing process is associated with a systemic increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , which play a detrimental role in the development of major disabling diseases. However, the factors contributing to this effect are not well understood. This research reveals that individuals with T2DM exhibit a pro-inflammatory profile in key cytotoxic immune cells. Specifically, our findings indicate a positive correlation between elevated TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells in patients with type 2 diabetes and both advanced age and prolonged diabetes duration. Furthermore, six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment, including an introduction of SGLT-2i with or without GLP-1RA, reduces the hyperresponsiveness of cytotoxic lymphocytes in patients with diabetes. This study therefore provides a deeper understanding of the aggravated immune response in patients with T2DM and sheds new light on antidiabetic medications in targeting diabetes-induced hyperinflammation.

Previous research has indicated that elevated glucose levels can amplify cytokine production by human PBMCs. When exposed to moderately increased glucose levels (8 mmol/l), monocytes demonstrated increased type I IFN production upon poly I:C stimulation [115]. Additionally, Zhu et al.[109] investigated the impact of high glucose conditions on primary human CD8⁺ T cells stimulated by CD3/CD28 beads. Despite an increase in glucose uptake and glycolysis, they reported no alterations in the proliferation capacity of cytotoxic lymphocytes [109]. However, the study revealed enhanced killing efficiency [109]. These observations mirror our findings in cytotoxic lymphocytes isolated from patients with type 2 diabetes. Surprisingly, our analysis suggested that increased TNF- α production by CD8⁺ T cells in the context of diabetes did not show a correlation with glycaemia per se. Esposito et al. [116] conducted a study indicating that hyperglycaemic spikes lead to a rise in plasma concentrations of IL-6, TNF- α and IL-18, possibly due to an underlying oxidative mechanism. These changes in pro-inflammatory potential could pose risks in conditions of systemic high-grade inflammation, such as severe infection with SARS-CoV-2, a disease associated with increased immune-mediated pathology in patients with type 2 diabetes [27]. However, it remains unclear whether the same mechanisms persist or if other age-associated factors contribute to chronic inflammation and the process of inflammageing in individuals with longstanding diabetes.

The length of time exposed to hyperglycaemia significantly affects the initiation and progression of all chronic complications associated with diabetes. This impact is probably due to continuous tissue damage resulting from prolonged systemic and/or local inflammation. In our study, conducted within a cohort of patients with T2DM exhibiting a relatively low complication rate, we observe that a pro-inflammatory profile of cytotoxic immune cells is associated with advanced age and a longer duration of diabetes. This effect of T2DM on the antiviral immune response is not transient. Our findings elucidate how the immune system responds to stress stimuli upregulated in metabolic disease, which is in line with previous animal

studies focusing on the visceral adipose tissue and steatotic liver [68, 102]. Diabesity, a term used to describe the combined adverse health effects of obesity and diabetes mellitus, can thus be considered as a state of chronic low-grade infection. Our findings suggest that it is not solely hyperglycaemia, but rather the duration of hyperglycaemia that influences the immune cell hyperresponsiveness associated with inflammageing. Studies propose that implementing early and intensive glycaemic control offers long-term protection against both micro- and macrovascular complications, commonly referred to as the legacy effect [117]. Targeting both glycaemia and inflammation through early intervention or selecting specific antidiabetic treatments in patients with type 2 diabetes could potentially mitigate the detrimental effects of an aggravated immune response and improve the overall prognosis.

Previous studies have proposed several potential immune-modulating mechanisms of action for SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA. However, the majority of studies have primarily focused on *in vitro* or animal models. Specifically, previous work almost exclusively investigated the effect of these medications on glomerular endothelial cells, cardiac myocytes and macrophages [118]. Empagliflozin, in animal models of both prediabetes and diabetes, has demonstrated a capacity to attenuate cardiac macrophage infiltration [119, 120]. Similarly, dapagliflozin decreases the expression of inflammatory markers, including IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF- α , independently of its glucose-lowering effects [121]. Both empagliflozin and dapagliflozin have been observed to attenuate the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome [81, 121]. These positive effects of SGLT-2 inhibition are attributed to various cellular alterations, encompassing the mitigation of mitochondrial damage and the suppression of signalling pathways associated with inflammation, such as NF- κ B pathway [122]. Conversely, studies on the mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory effects of GLP-1RA are even scarcer than those for SGLT-2i. In an STZ-induced model of diabetes, GLP-1RA not only prevented macrophage infiltration but also diminished oxidative stress and NF- κ B activation in both kidney and cardiac tissues [123, 124]. Further in vitro experiments revealed the effectiveness of GLP-1RA in attenuating the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines from macrophages and reducing the production of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in glomerular endothelial cells [123, 124]. Interestingly, no research to date has shown that anti-inflammatory effects of these medications are mediated through their target receptors but the precise underlying mechanism is still not fully understood and current knowledge remains limited to certain cell types or tissues. In our study, the broader anti-inflammatory effects, reaching beyond the limitations of renal and cardiac tissues, of the medications under investigation were demonstrated. Our findings reveal a discernible pattern of decreased cytokine production by cytotoxic blood lymphocytes after a six-month course of treatment with SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA.

Patients in this study were introduced with SGLT-2i with or without GLP-1RA, medication classes of different mechanisms of action but yielding comparable overall results, including reduction in glycaemia,

weight management, decreased markers of liver inflammation and improved lipid profile. However, none of these parameters individually correspond with reduced immune cell hyperresponsiveness, apart from disease duration and overall body composition. Also, there is no direct correlation between improvement of any of these parameters and reduced hyperresponsiveness. We hypothesise that the improved overall metabolic state observed in patients introduced with SGLT-2i with or without a concomitant GLP-1RA contributes to a diminished perception of metabolic stress in tissues. Reduction in tissue metabolic stress signals, in turn, may result in a comparable reduction of the immune cell responsiveness in both treatment groups, ultimately contributing to similar clinical outcomes.

Notably, our correlation analysis revealed that $\gamma\delta$ T cells, as opposed to NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells, appear to be responsive to metabolite levels. These cells make up less than 10% of PBMCs and they have a unique role in the human body by first responding to tissue stress signals and maintaining immune homeostasis in the local microenvironment [125]. In contrast to NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells which are crucial for responding to the 'missing self' and the 'dangerous non-self', respectively, $\gamma\delta$ T cells play a complex role in tolerating 'safe non-self' and removing the 'distressed self' [125]. The adaptable nature of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, therefore, becomes extremely important in excessive tissue inflammation due to metabolic stress, as observed in conditions like diabesity.

Remarkably, the cytokine production by cytotoxic lymphocytes exhibited additional benefits following antidiabetic treatment, surpassing the observed distinctions between control subjects and patients with T2DM in our study. Had control subjects been selected from a cohort of healthy individuals rather than those with cardiovascular disorders, the differences in cytokine production between controls and diabetes patients could have been more pronounced. This observation might elucidate the favourable impact of SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA on cardiovascular safety, given that these medications reduce inflammatory parameters unaffected by T2DM.

In the context of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, the relevance of our discovery, which underscores the impact of specific antidiabetic medications on the antiviral arm of the immune system, becomes even more pronounced. In a study of over 12,000 COVID-19 patients, premorbid use of SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA was associated with lower mortality rates, along with a reduction in emergency room visits and hospital admissions [126]. Another study involving nearly 65,000 veterans with diabetes and COVID-19 demonstrated an inverse association between pre-admission use of a GLP1-RA, metformin, and SGLT-2i and adverse outcomes [127]. These studies underscore the anti-inflammatory properties of these medication classes, preventing excessive inflammatory cytokine production during COVID-19, while concurrently providing cardiorenal protection and improving patient outcomes. Further research should aim to clarify the precise mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory effects of SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA in individuals with

metabolic disorders, both preceding and following viral infections. This approach would not only enhance our comprehension of immune modulation in health and disease but also holds promise for informing therapeutic strategies targeting inflammatory pathways in diverse health conditions, paving the way for potential advancements in personalised medicine of individuals with diabetes.

Our research has certain limitations. Although it concentrates on the functional analysis of isolated PBMCs, it does not offer insights into other important components of the immune response such as tissuespecific or humoral immunity. Additionally, we recognize that our study involves a relatively small sample size, potentially impacting the generalizability of our findings given the inherent biological variability in cell populations and protein expression levels. Furthermore, our study population is exclusively Caucasian, limiting the applicability of our findings to diverse ethnic groups. Although we minimised the impact of circadian rhythm and nutrition by collecting all samples in a fasting state between 7 and 9 am, lifestyle factors such as dietary habits, exercise routine, or sleep patterns, were not collected in the study therefore their effect on the observed differences cannot be excluded. Also, the majority of participants in the Diabetes group were not drug-naïve, which may have potentially influenced our findings in comparison to control subjects. Moreover, the short longitudinal design of our study disables the extrapolation of findings to clinical outcomes or discussions on causality. Therefore, further multi-centre studies with larger and more diverse cohorts are necessary to increase the generalizability of our findings.

7. CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, this study reveals that diabetes is associated with a hyper-responsive profile within the anti-viral arm of the immune system and establishes a correlation of these findings with age and diabetes duration. Our findings show that six months of optimal antidiabetic treatment reduces the pro-inflammatory profile of cytotoxic lymphocytes. These novel insights shed new light on complications of type 2 diabetes associated with chronic systemic inflammation and inflammageing. Moreover, our study offers a new perspective on antidiabetic medications as potential agents capable of ameliorating the hyperinflammatory milieu chronically present in individuals with diabetes.

7. REFERENCES

1. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 10th edn. Brussels, Belgium: 2021 [Available from: https://www.diabetesatlas.org].

2. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. 2021 [Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight].

3. Defronzo RA. Banting Lecture. From the triumvirate to the ominous octet: a new paradigm for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes. 2009;58:773-95.

4. DeFronzo RA. Lilly lecture 1987. The triumvirate: beta-cell, muscle, liver. A collusion responsible for NIDDM. Diabetes. 1988;37:667-87.

5. Ahmad E, Lim S, Lamptey R, Webb DR, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 2022;400:1803-20.

6. 2. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2024. Diabetes Care. 2024;47:S20-42.

7. 9. Pharmacologic Approaches to Glycemic Treatment: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2024. Diabetes Care. 2024;47:S158-78.

8. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, et al. Empagliflozin, Cardiovascular Outcomes, and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:2117-28.

9. Wiviott SD, Raz I, Bonaca MP, Mosenzon O, Kato ET, Cahn A, et al. Dapagliflozin and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:347-57.

10. Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JF, Nauck MA, et al. Liraglutide and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:311-22.

11. Marso SP, Bain SC, Consoli A, Eliaschewitz FG, Jódar E, Leiter LA, et al. Semaglutide and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1834-44.

12. Gerstein HC, Colhoun HM, Dagenais GR, Diaz R, Lakshmanan M, Pais P, et al. Dulaglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes (REWIND): a double-blind, randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2019;394:121-30.

13. Husain M, Birkenfeld AL, Donsmark M, Dungan K, Eliaschewitz FG, Franco DR, et al. Oral Semaglutide and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:841-51.

14. McMurray JJV, Solomon SD, Inzucchi SE, Køber L, Kosiborod MN, Martinez FA, et al. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Heart Failure and Reduced Ejection Fraction. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:1995-2008.

15. Packer M, Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, Pocock SJ, Carson P, et al. Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes with Empagliflozin in Heart Failure. N Engl J Med. 2020;383:1413-24.

16. Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, Ferreira JP, Bocchi E, Böhm M, et al. Empagliflozin in Heart Failure with a Preserved Ejection Fraction. N Engl J Med. 2021;385:1451-61.

17. Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R, Chertow GM, Greene T, Hou FF, et al. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;383:1436-46.

18. Sattar N, Lee MMY, Kristensen SL, Branch KRH, Del Prato S, Khurmi NS, et al. Cardiovascular, mortality, and kidney outcomes with GLP-1 receptor agonists in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2021;9:653-62.

Group UPDSU. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 1998;352:837-53.
 Pearson-Stuttard J, Blundell S, Harris T, Cook DG, Critchley J. Diabetes and infection: assessing

the association with glycaemic control in population-based studies. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2016;4:148-58.

21. Muller LM, Gorter KJ, Hak E, Goudzwaard WL, Schellevis FG, Hoepelman AI, et al. Increased risk of common infections in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;41:281-8.

22. Rao Kondapally Seshasai S, Kaptoge S, Thompson A, Di Angelantonio E, Gao P, Sarwar N, et al. Diabetes mellitus, fasting glucose, and risk of cause-specific death. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:829-41.

23. Stoeckle M, Kaech C, Trampuz A, Zimmerli W. The role of diabetes mellitus in patients with bloodstream infections. Swiss Med Wkly. 2008;138:512-9.

24. Jeon CY, Murray MB. Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of active tuberculosis: a systematic review of 13 observational studies. PLoS Med. 2008;5:e152.

25. 4. Comprehensive Medical Evaluation and Assessment of Comorbidities: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2024. Diabetes Care. 2024;47:S52-76.

26. Guan WJ, Liang WH, Zhao Y, Liang HR, Chen ZS, Li YM, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with COVID-19 in China: a nationwide analysis. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:2000547.

27. Shao S, Yang Q, Pan R, Yu X, Chen Y. Interaction of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 and Diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:731974.

28. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1708-20.

29. Guo W, Li M, Dong Y, Zhou H, Zhang Z, Tian C, et al. Diabetes is a risk factor for the progression and prognosis of COVID-19. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2020;36:e3319.

30. Kornum JB, Thomsen RW, Riis A, Lervang HH, Schønheyder HC, Sørensen HT. Diabetes, glycemic control, and risk of hospitalization with pneumonia: a population-based case-control study. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:1541-5.

31. Simonsen JR, Harjutsalo V, Järvinen A, Kirveskari J, Forsblom C, Groop PH, et al. Bacterial infections in patients with type 1 diabetes: a 14-year follow-up study. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2015;3:e000067.

32. Martinez N, Ketheesan N, West K, Vallerskog T, Kornfeld H. Impaired Recognition of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by Alveolar Macrophages From Diabetic Mice. J Infect Dis. 2016;214:1629-37.

33. Yamashiro S, Kawakami K, Uezu K, Kinjo T, Miyagi K, Nakamura K, et al. Lower expression of Th1-related cytokines and inducible nitric oxide synthase in mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Clin Exp Immunol. 2005;139:57-64.

34. Muller YD, Golshayan D, Ehirchiou D, Wyss JC, Giovannoni L, Meier R, et al. Immunosuppressive effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes result in absolute lymphopenia and a relative increase of T regulatory cells. Diabetes. 2011;60:2331-40.

35. Miya A, Nakamura A, Miyoshi H, Takano Y, Sunagoya K, Hayasaka K, et al. Impact of Glucose Loading on Variations in CD4(+) and CD8(+) T Cells in Japanese Participants with or without Type 2 Diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:81.

36. Kumar NP, Sridhar R, Nair D, Banurekha VV, Nutman TB, Babu S. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with altered CD8(+) T and natural killer cell function in pulmonary tuberculosis. Immunology. 2015;144:677-86.

37. Kumar NP, Moideen K, George PJ, Dolla C, Kumaran P, Babu S. Impaired Cytokine but Enhanced Cytotoxic Marker Expression in Mycobacterium tuberculosis-Induced CD8+ T Cells in Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes and Latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection. J Infect Dis. 2016;213:866-70.

38. Kumar NP, Sridhar R, Banurekha VV, Jawahar MS, Nutman TB, Babu S. Expansion of pathogenspecific T-helper 1 and T-helper 17 cells in pulmonary tuberculosis with coincident type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Infect Dis. 2013;208:739-48.

39. Restrepo BI, Fisher-Hoch SP, Pino PA, Salinas A, Rahbar MH, Mora F, et al. Tuberculosis in poorly controlled type 2 diabetes: altered cytokine expression in peripheral white blood cells. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;47:634-41.

40. Wong SL, Demers M, Martinod K, Gallant M, Wang Y, Goldfine AB, et al. Diabetes primes neutrophils to undergo NETosis, which impairs wound healing. Nat Med. 2015;21:815-9.

41. Turina M, Fry DE, Polk HC, Jr. Acute hyperglycemia and the innate immune system: clinical, cellular, and molecular aspects. Crit Care Med. 2005;33:1624-33.

42. Reinhold D, Ansorge S, Schleicher ED. Elevated glucose levels stimulate transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-beta 1), suppress interleukin IL-2, IL-6 and IL-10 production and DNA synthesis in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Horm Metab Res. 1996;28:267-70.

43. Geerlings SE, Brouwer EC, Gaastra W, Verhoef J, Hoepelman AIM. Effect of glucose and pH on uropathogenic and non-uropathogenic Escherichia coli: studies with urine from diabetic and non-diabetic individuals. J Med Microbiol. 1999;48:535-9.

44. Geerlings SE, Hoepelman AI. Immune dysfunction in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 1999;26:259-65.

45. O'Neill LA, Kishton RJ, Rathmell J. A guide to immunometabolism for immunologists. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16:553-65.

46. Greiner EF, Guppy M, Brand K. Glucose is essential for proliferation and the glycolytic enzyme induction that provokes a transition to glycolytic energy production. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:31484-90.

47. Gubser PM, Bantug GR, Razik L, Fischer M, Dimeloe S, Hoenger G, et al. Rapid effector function of memory CD8+ T cells requires an immediate-early glycolytic switch. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:1064-72.

48. van der Windt GJ, Everts B, Chang CH, Curtis JD, Freitas TC, Amiel E, et al. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity is a critical regulator of CD8+ T cell memory development. Immunity. 2012;36:68-78.
49. Guzik TJ, Cosentino F. Epigenetics and Immunometabolism in Diabetes and Aging. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2018;29:257-74.

50. Krapić M, Kavazović I, Wensveen FM. Immunological Mechanisms of Sickness Behavior in Viral Infection. Viruses. 2021;13:2245.

51. Landini MP. Early enhanced glucose uptake in human cytomegalovirus-infected cells. J Gen Virol. 1984;65:1229-32.

52. Yu Y, Maguire TG, Alwine JC. Human cytomegalovirus activates glucose transporter 4 expression to increase glucose uptake during infection. J Virol. 2011;85:1573-80.

53. Codo AC, Davanzo GG, Monteiro LB, de Souza GF, Muraro SP, Virgilio-da-Silva JV, et al. Elevated Glucose Levels Favor SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Monocyte Response through a HIF-1α/Glycolysis-Dependent Axis. Cell Metab. 2020;32:498-9.

54. Duncan CJ, Mohamad SM, Young DF, Skelton AJ, Leahy TR, Munday DC, et al. Human IFNAR2 deficiency: Lessons for antiviral immunity. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:154.

55. Hadjadj J, Yatim N, Barnabei L, Corneau A, Boussier J, Smith N, et al. Impaired type I interferon activity and inflammatory responses in severe COVID-19 patients. Science. 2020;369:718-24.

56. Hui S, Ghergurovich JM, Morscher RJ, Jang C, Teng X, Lu W, et al. Glucose feeds the TCA cycle via circulating lactate. Nature. 2017;551:115-8.

57. Chen YD, Varasteh BB, Reaven GM. Plasma lactate concentration in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Diabete Metab. 1993;19:348-54.

58. Mongraw-Chaffin ML, Matsushita K, Brancati FL, Astor BC, Coresh J, Crawford SO, et al. Diabetes medication use and blood lactate level among participants with type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities carotid MRI study. PLoS One. 2012;7:e51237.

59. Saisho Y. Importance of Beta Cell Function for the Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes. J Clin Med. 2014;3:923-43.

60. Bandaru P, Shankar A. Association between plasma leptin levels and diabetes mellitus. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2011;9:19-23.

61. Blanco-Melo D, Nilsson-Payant BE, Liu WC, Uhl S, Hoagland D, Møller R, et al. Imbalanced Host Response to SARS-CoV-2 Drives Development of COVID-19. Cell. 2020;181:1036-45.

62. Musilli C, Paccosi S, Pala L, Gerlini G, Ledda F, Mugelli A, et al. Characterization of circulating and monocyte-derived dendritic cells in obese and diabetic patients. Mol Immunol. 2011;49:234-8.

63. Hannibal TD, Schmidt-Christensen A, Nilsson J, Fransén-Pettersson N, Hansen L, Holmberg D. Deficiency in plasmacytoid dendritic cells and type I interferon signalling prevents diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance in mice. Diabetologia. 2017;60:2033-41.

64. Pinto RA, Arredondo SM, Bono MR, Gaggero AA, Díaz PV. T helper 1/T helper 2 cytokine imbalance in respiratory syncytial virus infection is associated with increased endogenous plasma cortisol. Pediatrics. 2006;117:e878-86.

65. Yoo SG, Han KD, Lee KH, La Y, Kwon DE, Han SH. Impact of Cytomegalovirus Disease on New-Onset Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Population-Based Matched Case-Control Cohort Study. Diabetes Metab J. 2019;43:815-29.

66. Esser N, Legrand-Poels S, Piette J, Scheen AJ, Paquot N. Inflammation as a link between obesity, metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;105:141-50.

67. Wensveen FM, Valentić S, Šestan M, Turk Wensveen T, Polić B. The "Big Bang" in obese fat: Events initiating obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45:2446-56.

68. Wensveen FM, Jelenčić V, Valentić S, Šestan M, Wensveen TT, Theurich S, et al. NK cells link obesity-induced adipose stress to inflammation and insulin resistance. Nat Immunol. 2015;16:376-85.

69. Wensveen FM, Valentić S, Šestan M, Wensveen TT, Polić B. Interactions between adipose tissue and the immune system in health and malnutrition. Semin Immunol. 2015;27:322-33.

70. Chi Y, Ge Y, Wu B, Zhang W, Wu T, Wen T, et al. Serum Cytokine and Chemokine Profile in Relation to the Severity of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. J Infect Dis. 2020;222:746-54.

71. Wang Q, Fang P, He R, Li M, Yu H, Zhou L, et al. O-GlcNAc transferase promotes influenza A virus-induced cytokine storm by targeting interferon regulatory factor-5. Sci Adv. 2020;6:7086.

72. Randeria SN, Thomson GJA, Nell TA, Roberts T, Pretorius E. Inflammatory cytokines in type 2 diabetes mellitus as facilitators of hypercoagulation and abnormal clot formation. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2019;18:72.

73. Gupta R, Hussain A, Misra A. Diabetes and COVID-19: evidence, current status and unanswered research questions. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2020;74:864-70.

74. Turk Wensveen T, Gašparini D, Rahelić D, Wensveen FM. Type 2 diabetes and viral infection; cause and effect of disease. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2021;172:108637.

75. Rohm TV, Meier DT, Olefsky JM, Donath MY. Inflammation in obesity, diabetes, and related disorders. Immunity. 2022;55:31-55.

76. Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP. Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. Nat Med. 2015;21:677-87.

77. Bauernfeind FG, Horvath G, Stutz A, Alnemri ES, MacDonald K, Speert D, et al. Cutting edge: NF-kappaB activating pattern recognition and cytokine receptors license NLRP3 inflammasome activation by regulating NLRP3 expression. J Immunol. 2009;183:787-91.

78. Goldberg EL, Dixit VD. Drivers of age-related inflammation and strategies for healthspan extension. Immunol Rev. 2015;265:63-74.

79. Franceschi C, Bonafè M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;908:244-54.

80. Sharif S, Van der Graaf Y, Cramer MJ, Kapelle LJ, de Borst GJ, Visseren FLJ, et al. Low-grade inflammation as a risk factor for cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20:220.

81. Kim SR, Lee SG, Kim SH, Kim JH, Choi E, Cho W, et al. SGLT2 inhibition modulates NLRP3 inflammasome activity via ketones and insulin in diabetes with cardiovascular disease. Nat Commun. 2020;11:2127.

82. Kreiner FF, Kraaijenhof JM, von Herrath M, Hovingh GKK, von Scholten BJ. Interleukin 6 in diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and cardiovascular disease: mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2022;18:377-89.

83. Mayerl C, Lukasser M, Sedivy R, Niederegger H, Seiler R, Wick G. Atherosclerosis research from past to present--on the track of two pathologists with opposing views, Carl von Rokitansky and Rudolf Virchow. Virchows Arch. 2006;449:96-103.

84. Gerrity RG. The role of the monocyte in atherogenesis: I. Transition of blood-borne monocytes into foam cells in fatty lesions. Am J Pathol. 1981;103:181-90.

85. Finucane OM, Lyons CL, Murphy AM, Reynolds CM, Klinger R, Healy NP, et al. Monounsaturated fatty acid-enriched high-fat diets impede adipose NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated IL-1 β secretion and insulin resistance despite obesity. Diabetes. 2015;64:2116-28.

86. Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, MacFadyen JG, Chang WH, Ballantyne C, et al. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1119-31.

87. Ridker PM, MacFadyen JG, Everett BM, Libby P, Thuren T, Glynn RJ. Relationship of C-reactive protein reduction to cardiovascular event reduction following treatment with canakinumab: a secondary analysis from the CANTOS randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2018;391:319-28.

88. Rübsam A, Parikh S, Fort PE. Role of Inflammation in Diabetic Retinopathy. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19.
89. Dong N, Xu B, Wang B, Chu L. Study of 27 aqueous humor cytokines in patients with type 2 diabetes with or without retinopathy. Mol Vis. 2013;19:1734-46.

90. Joussen AM, Poulaki V, Le ML, Koizumi K, Esser C, Janicki H, et al. A central role for inflammation in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. FASEB journal. 2004;18:1450-2.

91. Simó-Servat O, Hernández C, Simó R. Usefulness of the vitreous fluid analysis in the translational research of diabetic retinopathy. Mediators Inflamm. 2012;2012:872978.

92. Nagineni CN, Kommineni VK, William A, Detrick B, Hooks JJ. Regulation of VEGF expression in human retinal cells by cytokines: implications for the role of inflammation in age-related macular degeneration. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227:116-26.

93. Simó R, Sundstrom JM, Antonetti DA. Ocular Anti-VEGF therapy for diabetic retinopathy: the role of VEGF in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2014;37:893-9.

94. Lin M, Yiu WH, Wu HJ, Chan LY, Leung JC, Au WS, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 promotes tubular inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23:86-102.

95. Fang L, Xie D, Wu X, Cao H, Su W, Yang J. Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum stress in albuminuria induced inflammasome activation in renal proximal tubular cells. PLoS One. 2013;8:e72344.

96. Shahzad K, Bock F, Al-Dabet MM, Gadi I, Kohli S, Nazir S, et al. Caspase-1, but Not Caspase-3, Promotes Diabetic Nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27:2270-5.

97. Tang SCW, Yiu WH. Innate immunity in diabetic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2020;16:206-22.

98. Vilaysane A, Chun J, Seamone ME, Wang W, Chin R, Hirota S, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome promotes renal inflammation and contributes to CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;21:1732-44.

99. Herder C, Roden M, Ziegler D. Novel Insights into Sensorimotor and Cardiovascular Autonomic Neuropathy from Recent-Onset Diabetes and Population-Based Cohorts. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2019;30:286-98.

100. Herder C, Kannenberg JM, Huth C, Carstensen-Kirberg M, Rathmann W, Koenig W, et al. Proinflammatory Cytokines Predict the Incidence and Progression of Distal Sensorimotor Polyneuropathy: KORA F4/FF4 Study. Diabetes Care. 2017;40:569-76.

101. Kavazović I, Krapić M, Beumer-Chuwonpad A, Polić B, Turk Wensveen T, Lemmermann NA, et al. Hyperglycemia and Not Hyperinsulinemia Mediates Diabetes-Induced Memory CD8 T-Cell Dysfunction. Diabetes. 2022;71:706-21.

102. Marinović S, Lenartić M, Mladenić K, Šestan M, Kavazović I, Benić A, et al. NKG2D-mediated detection of metabolically stressed hepatocytes by innate-like T cells is essential for initiation of NASH and fibrosis. Sci Immunol. 2023;8:eadd1599.

103. Šestan M, Marinović S, Kavazović I, Cekinović Đ, Wueest S, Turk Wensveen T, et al. Virus-Induced Interferon-γ Causes Insulin Resistance in Skeletal Muscle and Derails Glycemic Control in Obesity. Immunity. 2018;49:164-77.

104. Goldman L, Hashimoto B, Cook EF, Loscalzo A. Comparative reproducibility and validity of systems for assessing cardiovascular functional class: advantages of a new specific activity scale. Circulation. 1981;64:1227-34.

105. Chapter 1: Definition and classification of CKD. Kidney Int Suppl. 2013;3:19-62.

106. Menart-Houtermans B, Rütter R, Nowotny B, Rosenbauer J, Koliaki C, Kahl S, et al. Leukocyte profiles differ between type 1 and type 2 diabetes and are associated with metabolic phenotypes: results from the German Diabetes Study (GDS). Diabetes Care. 2014;37:2326-33.

107. Liu C, Feng X, Li Q, Wang Y, Li Q, Hua M. Adiponectin, TNF-α and inflammatory cytokines and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Cytokine. 2016;86:100-9.

108. Gupta S, Maratha A, Siednienko J, Natarajan A, Gajanayake T, Hoashi S, et al. Analysis of inflammatory cytokine and TLR expression levels in Type 2 Diabetes with complications. Sci Rep. 2017;7:7633.

109. Zhu J, Yang W, Zhou X, Zöphel D, Soriano-Baguet L, Dolgener D, et al. High Glucose Enhances Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Mediated Cytotoxicity. Front Immunol. 2021;12:689337.

110. Wang EC, Borysiewicz LK. The role of CD8+, CD57+ cells in human cytomegalovirus and other viral infections. Scand J Infect Dis Suppl. 1995;99:69-77.

111. Krämer B, Knoll R, Bonaguro L, ToVinh M, Raabe J, Astaburuaga-García R, et al. Early IFN- α signatures and persistent dysfunction are distinguishing features of NK cells in severe COVID-19. Immunity. 2021;54:2650-69.

112. Bolla AM, Loretelli C, Montefusco L, Finzi G, Abdi R, Ben Nasr M, et al. Inflammation and vascular dysfunction: The negative synergistic combination of diabetes and COVID-19. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2022;38:e3565.

113. Wensveen FM, Jelenčić V, Polić B. NKG2D: A Master Regulator of Immune Cell Responsiveness. Front Immunol. 2018;9:441.

114. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. Cell. 2013;153:1194-217.

115. Hu R, Xia CQ, Butfiloski E, Clare-Salzler M. Effect of high glucose on cytokine production by human peripheral blood immune cells and type I interferon signaling in monocytes: Implications for the role of hyperglycemia in the diabetes inflammatory process and host defense against infection. Clin Immunol. 2018;195:139-48.

116. Esposito K, Nappo F, Marfella R, Giugliano G, Giugliano F, Ciotola M, et al. Inflammatory cytokine concentrations are acutely increased by hyperglycemia in humans: role of oxidative stress. Circulation. 2002;106:2067-72.

117. Prattichizzo F, de Candia P, De Nigris V, Nicolucci A, Ceriello A. Legacy effect of intensive glucose control on major adverse cardiovascular outcome: Systematic review and meta-analyses of trials according to different scenarios. Metabolism. 2020;110:154308.

118. Lahnwong S, Chattipakorn SC, Chattipakorn N. Potential mechanisms responsible for cardioprotective effects of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2018;17:101.

119. Lin B, Koibuchi N, Hasegawa Y, Sueta D, Toyama K, Uekawa K, et al. Glycemic control with empagliflozin, a novel selective SGLT2 inhibitor, ameliorates cardiovascular injury and cognitive dysfunction in obese and type 2 diabetic mice. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2014;13:148.

120. Kusaka H, Koibuchi N, Hasegawa Y, Ogawa H, Kim-Mitsuyama S. Empagliflozin lessened cardiac injury and reduced visceral adipocyte hypertrophy in prediabetic rats with metabolic syndrome. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;15:157.

121. Ye Y, Bajaj M, Yang HC, Perez-Polo JR, Birnbaum Y. SGLT-2 Inhibition with Dapagliflozin Reduces the Activation of the Nlrp3/ASC Inflammasome and Attenuates the Development of Diabetic Cardiomyopathy in Mice with Type 2 Diabetes. Further Augmentation of the Effects with Saxagliptin, a DPP4 Inhibitor. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2017;31:119-32.

122. Li X, Preckel B, Hermanides J, Hollmann MW, Zuurbier CJ, Weber NC. Amelioration of endothelial dysfunction by sodium glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors: pieces of the puzzle explaining their cardiovascular protection. Br J Pharmacol. 2022;179(16):4047-62.

123. Kodera R, Shikata K, Kataoka HU, Takatsuka T, Miyamoto S, Sasaki M, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist ameliorates renal injury through its anti-inflammatory action without lowering blood glucose level in a rat model of type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2011;54:965-78.

124. Tate M, Robinson E, Green BD, McDermott BJ, Grieve DJ. Exendin-4 attenuates adverse cardiac remodelling in streptozocin-induced diabetes via specific actions on infiltrating macrophages. Basic Res Cardiol. 2016;111:1.

125. Kalyan S, Kabelitz D. Defining the nature of human $\gamma\delta$ T cells: a biographical sketch of the highly empathetic. Cell Mol Immunol. 2013;10:21-9.

126. Kahkoska AR, Abrahamsen TJ, Alexander GC, Bennett TD, Chute CG, Haendel MA, et al. Association Between Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptor Agonist and Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitor Use and COVID-19 Outcomes. Diabetes Care. 2021;44:1564-72.

127. Wander PL, Lowy E, Beste LA, Tulloch-Palomino L, Korpak A, Peterson AC, et al. Prior Glucose-Lowering Medication Use and 30-Day Outcomes Among 64,892 Veterans With Diabetes and COVID-19. Diabetes Care. 2021;44:2708-13.

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

List of figures

Figure 1. Type 2 diabetes mellitus treatment algorithm
Figure 2. Negative impacts of type 2 diabetes mellitus on immunological control of viral infection
Figure 3. Flowchart of the study participants
Figure 4. Design of the follow-up part of the study
Figure 5. Blood lymphocytes of type 2 diabetes patients and control subjects show a similar distribution of
subsets
Figure 6. Type 2 diabetes is associated with minor changes in the phenotype and proliferative capacity of
CD8 T cells
Figure 7. Type 2 diabetes is associated with increased tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by CD8 T
cells
Figure 8. Gamma delta T cell phenotype and proliferative capacity are not affected by type 2 diabetes
mellitus
Figure 9. Gamma delta T cells of type 2 diabetes patients are hyperresponsive to in vitro stimulation 34
Figure 10. Natural killer cells of patients with type 2 diabetes exhibit a more mature phenotype in
comparison to control subjects
Figure 11. Granzyme B production by natural killer cells is increased in patients with type 2 diabetes 37
Figure 12. Adequate skeletal muscle mass and a low amount of visceral fat may attenuate systemic
inflammation in patients with type 2 diabetes
Figure 13. Hyperresponsive state of cytotoxic blood lymphocytes is associated with older age and longer
diabetes duration
Figure 14. Functional alterations in cytotoxic lymphocytes of type 2 diabetes patients is not associated with
comorbidities, cardiovascular risk factors or medication use
Figure 15. Optimal antidiabetic treatment reverts hyperinflammatory response of CD8 T cells
Figure 16. Hyperinflammatory state of gamma delta T cells in diabetes may be reverted by optimal
antidiabetic treatment
Figure 17. Natural killer cells of patients with type 2 diabetes produce less Granzyme B after six months of
optimal antidiabetic treatment
Figure 18. Beneficial effects of optimal antidiabetic treatment are only partly associated with improvement
in glycaemia
Figure 19. Patients with longer diabetes duration may benefit the most from the anti-inflammatory effects
of optimal antidiabetic treatment

List of tables

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study	
Table 2. List of antibodies used in experiments	17
Table 3. List of analysed blood parameters	
Table 4. Baseline characteristics of study participants	
Table 5. Diabetes duration, complication rate and treatment of the Diabetes Group at inclusion	25
Table 6. Serum concentration of cytokines in a subcohort of patients with type 2 diabetes and	control
subjects	
Table 7. Patient characteristics of the diabetes follow-up subcohort	44
Table 8. Comparison of clinical characteristics before and after treatment change in patients with	1 type 2
diabetes	45

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2HG	- Two-hour glucose
ADA	- American Diabetes Association
APC	- Allophycocyanin
ASCVD	- Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease
BMI	- Body masss index
CFSE	- Carboxyfluoresceinsuccinimidyl ester
CI	- Confidence interval
COPD	- Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COVID-19	- Coronavirus disease 2019
CRP	- C reactive protein
CX3CR1	- CX3C motif chemokine receptor 1
DPP-4i	- Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors
EDTA	- Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
eGFR	- Estimated glomerular filtration rate
FACS	- Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting
FCS	- Fetal calf serum
FITC	- Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FPG	- Fasting plasma glucose
FPI	- Fasting plasma insulin
GLP-1RA	- Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists
GM-CSF	- Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GzmB	- Granzyme B
HbA _{1c}	- Glycated haemoglobin A _{1c}

HDL	- High-density lipoprotein
HF	- Heart failure
ΗΟΜΑ- β	- Homeostatic model assessment of β -cell function
HOMA-IR	- Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance
HPA	- Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis
IBD	- Inflammatory bowel disease
IFN	- Interferon
IL	- Interleukin
IP-10	- Interferon gamma-induced protein 10
KIR	- Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
LDL	- Low-density lipoprotein
LSM	- Liver stiffness measure
mo	- month
NA	- Not applicable
NAFLD	- Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NF-κB	- Nuclear factor kappa b
NK	- Natural killer
NKG2A	- Natural killer group 2 member A
NKG2C	- Natural killer cell group 2 isoform C
NLRP3	- Nucleotide-binding domain leucine-rich-containing family pyrin domain-containing-3
PBMCs	- Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	- Phosphate-buffered saline
	- Phosphate-bulleted same
PE	- Phycoerythrin
PE PerCP	

PMA	- Phorbol myristate acetate
QUICKI	- Quantitative insulin-sensitivity check index
RA	- Rheumatoid arthritis
rpm	- Revolutions per minute
RPMI	- Roswell park memorial institute
RR	- Relative risk
RSV	- Respiratory syncytial virus
SARS-CoV-2	- Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
SB	- Super bright
SD	- Standard deviation
SEM	- Standard error of mean
SGLT-2i	- Sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors
STZ	- Streptozotocin
SU	- Sulfonylureas
T1DM	- Type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	- Type 2 diabetes mellitus
ТВ	- Tuberculosis
TCR	- T cell receptor
$T_{\rm H}$	- T helper
TNF	- Tumour necrosis factor
TZD	- Thiazolidinediones
VEGF	- Vascular endothelial growth factor

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Dora Gašparini
Address 1:	Zdravka Kučića 13, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia
Address 2:	Kloštar 5B, 52450 Vrsar, Croatia
E-mail:	dora.gasparini@uniri.hr
Date of birth:	15/10/1995
Nationality:	Croatian

WORK EXPERIENCE

15/Sep/2020 - present	Research Assistant (Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka)
22/Nov/2021 - present	Physician (Special Hospital Thalassotherapia Opatija)

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Postgraduate (doctoral) study programme of Biomedicine (Faculty of
Medicine, University of Rijeka, Croatia)
Integrated undergraduate and graduate programme of Medicine (Faculty of
Medicine, University of Rijeka, Croatia)
Academic degree: Medical Doctor
Grammar (high) school "Mate Balote", Poreč, Croatia

ACTIVE PARTICIPATION ON SCIENTIFIC MEETINGS

- Annual Meeting of Croatian Immunological Society 2023 Brijuni poster presentation
- Cardiology Highlights 2023 Dubrovnik poster presentation
- Advanced Technologies and Treatments for Diabetes Conference 2023 Berlin & Online e-poster presentation
- Annual Meeting of Croatian Immunological Society 2022 Sv. Martin na Muri oral presentation (*Bright Sparks* session) and poster presentation
- Annual Meeting of European Association for the Study of Diabetes 2022 Stockholm oral presentation
- Annual Meeting of European Young Endocrinologists & Scientists 2022 Zagreb 2 poster presentations
- Annual Meeting of Croatian Immunological Society 2021 Trogir poster presentation
- Science 4 Health 2021 Opatija oral presentation and poster presentation
- European Congress of Immunology 2021 Online poster presentation

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- First prize Poster session (Annual Meeting of Croatian Immunological Society 2023)
- Second prize Bright Sparks session (Annual Meeting of Croatian Immunological Society 2022)
- European Congress of Immunology 2021 Attendance Award
- Clinical Hospital Center Rijeka Award for Excellence (2019/2020)
- Dean's Award for Excellence Class of 2019/2020
- Rector's Award for Excellence Class of 2019/2020
- Dean's Award for Excellence in Academic Year 2017/2018
- Dean's Award for Excellence in Academic Year 2016/2017
- Dean's Award for Excellence in Academic Year 2015/2016
- Dean's Award for Excellence in Academic Year 2014/2015
- Scholarship for outstanding students from the Vrsar Municipality 2010–2023

MEMBERSHIPS

- National Societies: Croatian Immunological Society, Croatian Society for Endocrinology and Diabetology, Croatian Society for Endocrinology, Croatian Medical Association, Croatian Medical Chamber
- International Societies: European Society of Endocrinology, European Association for the Study of Diabetes

IN-EXTENSO SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS

- 1. <u>Gašparini D</u>, Wensveen FM, Turk Wensveen T. **Inflammageing mediated by cytotoxic lymphocytes is associated with diabetes duration.** Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice 2023;207:111056.
- 2. <u>Gašparini D</u>, Zuljani A, Wensveen FM, Turk Wensveen T. A cross-sectional study in type 2 diabetes patients reveals that elevated pulse wave velocity predicts asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease associated with age and diabetes duration. IJC Heart & Vasculature 2023;49:1-8.
- <u>Gašparini D</u>, Raljević D, Pehar-Pejčinović V, Klarica Gembić T, Peršić V, Turk Wensveen T. When amiodarone-induced thyroiditis meets cardiomyopathy with excessive trabeculation: a case report. Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine 2023;10:1212965.
- Kavazović I, Dimitropoulos C, <u>Gašparini D</u>, Rončević Filipović M, Barković I, Koster J, Lemmermann NA, Babić M, Cekinović Grbeša D, Wensveen FM. Vaccination provides superior in vivo recall capacity of SARS-CoV-2-specific memory CD8 T cells. Cell Reports 2023; 42:112395.
- <u>Gašparini D</u>, Kavazović I, Barković I, Maričić V, Ivaniš V, Travica Samsa D, Peršić V, Polić B, Turk Wensveen T, Wensveen FM. Extreme anaerobic exercise causes reduced cytotoxicity and increased cytokine production by peripheral blood lymphocytes. Immunology Letters 2022; 248:45-55.
- 6. Turk Wensveen T, <u>Gašparini D</u>, Rahelić D, Wensveen FM. Type 2 diabetes and viral infection; cause and effect of disease. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice 2021;172:108637.
- 7. Gašparini D, Kaštelan M. Vitamin D and skin. Medicina Fluminensis 2021;57:356-64.
- 8. <u>Gašparini D</u>, Ljubičić R, Mršić-Pelčić J. Capsaicin Potential Solution for Chronic Pain Treatment. Psychiatria Danubina 2020;32:420-8.
- 9. <u>Gašparini D</u>, Kaštelan M. Psoriasis the visible killer. Medicina Fluminensis 2018;54:418-22. (Scopus)
- **10.** <u>Gašparini D</u>, Kaštelan M. Successful treatment of pityriasis lichenoides et varioliformis acuta in a patient with chronic hyperuricemia. Medicina Fluminensis 2019;55:215-23.
- 11. <u>Gašparini D</u>, Jonjić N, Štimac D, Dekanić A. **Pineal parenchymal tumor of intermediate** differentiation – case report. Medicina Fluminensis 2019;55:370-5.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Turk Wensveen T, <u>Gašparini D</u>. Chapter 7: Cardiometabolism. In: Peršić V, Travica Samsa D. **RITAM.** Medicinska Naklada: Zagreb, 2023. pp. 282-8.
- 2. <u>Gašparini D</u>, Kučan Brlić P, Juranić Lisnić V, Železnjak J, Mazor M, Cokarić Brdovčak M, Paulović C, Krstanović F. **What are antibodies?** Researchers' Night 2022.
- 3. Železnjak J, Mazor M, Kučan Brlić P, Juranić Lisnić V, Paulović C, Krstanović F, <u>Gašparini D</u>. **What do scientists do?** Researchers' Night 2022.
- 4. Kučan Brlić P, Juranić Lisnić V, Železnjak J, Mazor M, Cokarić Brdovčak M, Paulović C, Krstanović F, <u>Gašparini D</u>. What is cancer? Researchers' Night 2022.
- 5. Heritage Puzzle A Literacy Handbook of Medical Genetics. Department of Medical Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka: Rijeka, 2020. ISBN: 978-953-8341-02-1.